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Staying the Course

Dear Fellow Shareholders:

In 2001, Crown American Realty Trust effectively
navigated the national economic downturn, a
resulting weaker retail climate, and the uncertainty
following the tragic events of September 11. The
Company’s success in 2001 was due to our ongoing
commitment to operate the Company in a consistent
and conservative manner. Overall, our portfolio of
mall properties — our core business and the
dominant enclosed shopping centers in targeted

middle markets — proved quite resilient.

2001 Performance

[ am very pleased with the Company’s steady
performance results for 2001, Despite all the
challenges, Funds from Operations (“FFO”), the
common performance measure for REIT’s, was $1.39

per share, up 3.7% from 2000.

When I became CEO of Crown American Realty

Trust three years ago, the Company’s common share

price was abourt $7.25, and as this letter is written,
our common shares are trading near $8.70. Add in
our strong dividend yield, which currently is near
9.7%, our common shares have generated an
approximate 66% total return to shareholders over
the last three years. In fact, our total return on
common shares for the five year period ended
December 31, 2001 has exceeded an index consisting
of seven competing enclosed mall REIT’s as well as
the S&P 500 Index. Yet, I believe our common shares
remain undervalued, and the entire management
team is dedicated to continue to enhance shareholder
value. Unlike some well publicized companies,
Crown American is a company with real, tangible
assets that generates and distributes to shareholders

real cash earnings.

Since 1998 the Company’s Funds from Operations
have grown in good as well as challenging times.
While the economic environment held our property

level net operating income relative flac in 2001, FFO




results overall were positively impacted by lower
interest expense on our floating rate debt and from a
higher than normal level of tenant lease buyout

payments.

As the economy slowed in 2001, and particularly afrer

the tragic events of September 11,

competitors, and for the level of tenant sales. This
signifies that our malls are affordable for tenants and
also presents future growth opportunities for the
Company as we strive to raise our tenants’ occupancy
costs to more normal levels through rent increases as
leases renew and from new leases at higher market

rates.

we were very cautious in our

The enclosed mall industry suffered

performance expectations for 2001.

significant store closings in the first

100%
But, as we reported in late January,
our FFO results, and our mall shop 80%
occupancy, percentage rents and
seasonal leasing income all posted 60% — ‘."
better results than originally
anticipated. Our portfolio of 40%—
middle market malls and our
consumer base proved to be quite 20%—
resilient.

0%

half of 2001, and we were also
impacted as such tenants as Bugle
Boy and Northern Reflections closed
and vacated the portfolio. However,
real estate leasing continued to do
well during 2001, producing new
and renewal leases that will generate
$17.3 million in annual base rental

income for the Company. The

Mall shop occupancy registered a

1997

1998

strong leasing activity was

2000
2001

.record 87% high at year end and [

] responsible for achieving our all time

total portfolio occupancy reached 94% ar year end.
In fact, 12 of Crown American’s 26 wholly-owned
malls had mall shop occupancy of over 90%. Our
mall shop tenants’ occupancy cost percentage, at

10.1%, remains low in comparison to our

mall shop occupancy of 87% at year end. This also
was the fourth consecutive year of strong mall shop
leasing activity.

We also were very pleased with comparable mall shop

sales, given the challenges of the year. Sales were up
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1.5 percent from the prior year to over $268 per
square foot. This compares to a 1.9 percent decrease
reported by the International Council of Shopping
Centers (ICSC) for mall shop sales across the country.
Once again, we outperformed the industry. In

particular, the portfolio’s strong sales performance

Corporate Highlights: 2001

Of note for the Company during 2001 were the

following developments and accomplishments:

Moody’s Upgrade: In March 2001, Moody’s Investors

Service upgraded the ratings on five classes and

since the national tragedies of

September 11 demonstrated that our

affirmed the ratings on two other

classes of the GE Capital Mall

dominant middle market properties
are stable. Mall consumer traffic
trends and tenant sales growth rates

continue to outperform our peers.

We have all been affected by the tragic

events of September 11 in New York,

Washington, DC and Pennsylvania.
Our 26 mall properties immediately
initiated disaster relief efforts in order
to assist those affected. These efforts §

included coordinating collection

O Anchors

E Mall Shops

Finance Corporation’s certificates,
which are secured by a mortgage
loan on 15 of the Company’s
enclosed malls. These upgraded
ratings are recognition by Moody’s

of the improved performance and

value of Crown American’s property

portfolio in recent years.

Common Dividend Increased in

April 2001 and Expected to be

2000
2001 §

Increased Again in April 2602: The

I

]

centers for donations and essential goods, and
emergency blood drives. On behalf of our employees
and the Board of Trustees, I offer our continuing
thoughts and prayers to the victims and their loved

ones.

Board of Trustees increased the annual common
dividend in April 2001 from $0.83 to $0.84 per share,
a 1.2% increase and our third consecutive dividend
increase. The Board also has indicated that it expects

to increase the dividend again when it meets in April




2002. This year our common dividend continued
to have a significant tax-advantaged return of capital
component, with only 30% of the 2001 common
dividend representing currently taxable income. We
expect a significant portion of the 2002 common

dividend will represent a non-taxable return of capital.

in August 2000. In July 2001, the Shop Dot Com
system was licensed by JP Realty, Inc. for its 18 mall
properties, and in February 2002 we announced that
the system was licensed by two other malls. We are
pleased that we are earning nearly a 30% return just

from license fees on our investment in Shop Dot

Year End el Sk

Com. We will continue to market

this consumer-friendly Internet

Addition to  Performance
12%
Benchmark Index: Frank Russell
Company announced in June that 1%L
s
Crown American would be added v

to the Russell Indexes. Membership

in Russell's 21 U.S. equity indexes
6% —

is determined by market

capitalization rankings and style 4%

attributes. These indexes are widely

. . 2% —
used for active and passive °

investment strategies.

0%

|
10.9% |

system to other mall properties as
part of a comprehensive e-business
strategy. In October, Shop Dot
Com was awarded the International
Council of Shopping Centers’
MAXI Award for excellence in
shopping center marketing in the
consumer or trade advertising
category. It was only one of 18

marketing programs recognized in

1997

1998

1999

2000
2001

this world-wide competition.

Shop Dot Com, the Company’s l

] Third Party Mall Management:

Mall-Based Web Site Software Licensed to Third
Parties and Recognized: Crown American’s mall web
sites have generated nearly 4 million visitor hits since

our proprietary system, “Shop Dot Com,” was launched

Crown American signed a two-year contract in
November to manage and lease Laurel Mall in Laurel,
Maryland. The 655,556 square foot mall is situated

within the thriving Baltimore-Washington corridor.
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This is Crown American’s first mall management
contract for other owners and our third retail property

leasing contract.

Innovative Leasing: In November, the Company

opened a sponsored play area at Mount Berry Square

Outlook for 2002:

The economic and retail environment will likely
remain challenging near term. Given our stronger
than expected fourth quarter 2001 performance,
continued FFO growth is expected and we

announced in late January 2002 that we expect 2002

in Rome, Georgia. Sponsored by

EFO per share to range from $1.40

Floyd Medical Center, the 1,400

to $1.46. This projection was based

square foot play area replicates town
landmarks and, drawing upon the
synergy between health care
providers and malls, also will be used
for screening and skills testing. This
is the first sponsored mall-based play
area in the State of Georgia, and the
only mall-based play area to offer

rehabilitative services.

on assumptions of no changes to the
existing portfolio from property sales
or acquisitions and no major
disruptions to the economic

environment.

The resiliency of our malls allows us
to work from a higher base as we face
certain challenges during the first
half of 2002.

The leasing

The

1997

Insider ~ Ownership:

1998 |

1999

environment for 2002 is somewhat

2000
2001 |

Company’s insider ownership —

1 difficult; however this has been

continued to grow during 2001, increasing from
37.7% to 38.1%, a 1.1% increase, which reflects
management’s bullishness on the Company’s
prospects and the excellent value our common shares

still offer as an investment.

factored into our performance projections. We
anticipate cerrain tenant closings during the first half
0f 2002, some of which have already occurred. These
tenant closings may put pressure on same center NOI

growth in 2002, but should be somewhat mitigated




by a continuing lower interest rate environment and
tight cost controls. Kmart, another potentially
troubled retailer, has only one location in our
portfolio that we believe may be affected. This
retailer’s total presence in our portfolio comprises only

0.9% of total revenue. Our continued success in 2002

Capital City Mall, our dominant regional mall in
the Harrisburg, Pennsylvania market. This
transaction resulted in $9.1 million net proceeds to
the Company, providing additional liquidity going

forward.

will depend in large measure on how

quickly we are able to re-lease space

At Crown American we remain

focused on the fundamental

100%

that may become vacant. We are

extremely focused on leasing all

80% =
vacant space.

60% —
With regard to our national tenant

base, Bon-Ton Stores, one of Crown
40%— .

American’s largest department store '
tenants,  reported  strong
209%—

performance in earnings and comp

i

store sales during 2001. I am also

0%

‘blocking and tackling’ necessary for

continued success. We have imposed

tight cost controls at the mall level
and at headquarters, including a
salary freeze in 2002 for officers and
administrative staff, at least uncil
expected positive results materialize.
No major capital expenditure
projects are planned for 2002. And

our debt maturities have improved

1997

very pleased with the turnaround

1998

1999

with the extension of two loans

2000
2001

affected at JC Penney, and their [

| completed in October, and another

impressive performance posted during 2001.

In order to increase our financial flexibility, on
January 8, 2002 we announced the closing of 2 $53.3

million loan with Morgan Stanley Bank secured by

extension under negotiation.

We will continue to manage the Company
conservatively, and to anticipate and respond

pro-actively to challenges and opportunities. Our
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principal goals for the ensuing year and beyond are
to continue to grow Crown American’s cash flow and
share value, enhance the Company’s financial
condition, creatively diversify our tenant base and
be the dominant retail space provider within our

target markets.

I want to commend our corporate

DEFINITIONS

Funds From Operations (FFO) means net income (computed
in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles)
before minority interest, real estate depreciation and amortization
and extraordinary and certain non-recurring items and includes
cash flow support payments from Crown Investments (an

affiliate).

Net Operating Income (NOI) means property revenues, less
straight-line (non-cash) rental income, less property operating
costs, but before interest and all depreciation and amortization.

Tenants’ Occupancy Cost Percentage is the sum of the of the
tenants’ base and percentage rent, common
area and tax charges divided by their sales.

Crown American Realty Trust through various
affiliates and subsidiaries owns, acquires,

operates and develops regional shopping malls

and mall staff for their diligent
work and dedication. We are a
focused and cohesive team, and
remain confident that Crown
American Realty Trust can offer
continuing strong improvements in
perfor-mance and operations to our

Investors.

in Pennsylvania, Maryland, West Virginia,
Virginia, New Jersey, North Carolina, Tennessee
and Georgia. The current portfolio includes
27 enclosed regional malls aggregating over 16

million square feet of gross leasable area.

This report contains certain forward-looking
statements within the meaning of Section 27A
of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and
Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, as amended. Such statements are Lased
on assumptions and expectations, whizh may
not be realized and are inberently subiect to
risks and uncertainties, many of which cannot
be predicted with accuracy. Future events and
actual results, financial and otherwise, may
differ from the results discussed in the forward-
looking statements. Risk and other factors that
might cause differences, some of which could be
material, include, bur are not limited to,
economic and credit market conditions, the
ability to refinance maturing indebtedness, the
impact of competition, consumer buying trends,

I E fugueSt

Mark E. Pasquerilla

1997

1998

1999

2 3 financing and development risks, construction
& 8 and lease-up delays, cost overruns, the level and
volatility of intevest rates, the rate of revenue

— increases versus expense incredses and financial

Chairman of the Board, CEO and
President

March 1, 2002

stability of tenants within the retail industry,
as well as other risks listed from time to time in
the Company’s reports filed with the Securities
and Exchange Commission or otherwise publicly
disseminated by the Company.
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Shareholder Information

Corporate Headquarters Dividend Reinvestment Plan
Crown American Realty Trust Shareholders who have one or more common shares of
Pasquerilla Plaza Crown American Realty Trust registered in their names
Johnstown, PA 15901 are eligible to reinvest their common share dividends in
(814) 536-4441 the Crown American Realty Trust Dividend
Investor Relations: (800) 860-2011 Reinvestment Plan. All brokerage commissions or
E-mail: Invest@crownamerican.com similar charges incurred by the agent in connection
with the purchase of common shares will be paid for by
Common and Preferred Shares the Company. Information regarding the Dividend
> Common Ticker Symbol: CWN Reinvestment Plan is available by calling Investor
o Preferred Ticker Symbol: CWN prA Relations at (800} 860-2011 or by e-mail at
° Common and Preferred Shares of Crown Invest@crownamerican.com.
American Realty Trust are listed and traded on
the New York Stock Exchange. Independent Public Accountants
> Common shares outstanding at year end: Arthur Andersen LLP
26,207,919 Pittsburgh, PA
o Preferred shares outstanding at year end:
2,475,000 Legal Counsel
° In 2001, Crown American Realty Trust common Reed Smith LLP
shares traded at a high of $8.72 and a low of Pittsburgh, PA
$5.25. A quarterly dividend of $0.2075 per
common share was paid in the first quarter of Publications
2001; dividends of $0.2100 per common share The Company's annual report on Form 10-K and
were paid in the second, third and fourth quarterly reports on Form 10-Q are available free of
quarters of 2001. charge from Crown American Realty Trust’s Investor
° Annual dividends of $5.50 per share were paid to Relarions Department. A Notice of Annual Meeting of
holders of the 11.00% senior preferred shares Shareholders and Proxy Statement are furnished to
($1.375 per share per quarter). shareholders in advance of the annual meeting.
Transfer Agent and Registrar Annual Meeting
American Stock Transfer and Trust Company The 2002 Crown American Realty Trust Annual
59 Maiden Lane Meeting of Shareholders will be held on Wednesday,
New York, NY 10038 April 24 at the Holiday Inn, 250 Market Street,
Johnstown, Pennsylvania. The meeting will begin at
Shareholder Inquiries 10:00 a.m.
Crown American Realty Trust
Pasquerilla Plaza Internet
Johnstown, Pennsylvania 15901 The Crown American Realty Trust Internet web site
Investor Relations: (800) 860-2011 can be found at www.crownamerican.com.

E-mail: Invest@crownamerican.com




SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

WASHINGTON, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-K

ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TC SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE
SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the period ended December 31, 2001

Commission file number: 1-12216

CROWN AMERICAN REALTY TRUST

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

Maryland 25-1713733
(State or other jurisdiction of (IRS Employer
incorporation or organization) Identification No.)

Pasquerilla Plaza
Johnstown, Pennsylvania 15901 (814) 536-4441
(Address of principal executive offices) (Registrant's telephone number)

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act:
Common Shares of Beneficial Imterest, par value $.01 per share
11.00% Senior Preferred Shares, par value $.01 per share (§50.00 Liquidation Preference)
(Title of Class)

New York Stock Exchange
(Name of Exchange on which registered)

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) of the Act: None

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or
15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements

for at least the past 90 days. Yes _X_No __.

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquent filers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K is not
contained herein, and will not be contained, to the best of registrant's knowledge, in definitive proxy or information statements

incorporated by reference in Part III of this Form 10-K or any amendment to this Form 10-K.

As of February 18, 2002, 26,208,049 Common Shares of Beneficial Interest and 2,475,000 11.00% Senior
Preferred Shares of the registrant were issued and outstanding. The registrant estimates that as of February 18, 2002 the aggregate
market value of the voting common shares held by non-affiliates of the registrant was approximately $203.9 million based on the

closing price on the New York Stock Exchange for such stock.

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE:

Portions of the Proxy Statement for the registrant's Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be held on April 24,

2002, are incorporated by reference into Part III of this Form 10-K.
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PARTI
Ttem 1. Business.
(2) General Development of Business

Crown American Realty Trust (the "Company") was formed on May 14, 1993 as a Maryland real
estate investment trust (a "REIT") to acquire and operate substantially all of the enclosed shopping mall properties
and two office buildings (the "Properties") owned by Crown American Associates ("Crown Associates"), formerly
Crown American Corporation. Crown Associates was formed in 1993 and is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Crown
Holding Company, which is controlled by Mark E. Pasquerilla, Chairman of the Board of Trustees and Chief
Executive Officer of the Company.

On August 17, 1993 the Company completed its initial public offering and raised net proceeds of
approximately $405 million in equity from issuing approximately 25.5 million shares, including the subsequent
exercise of the underwriters' over—allotment option. The Company used the proceeds to purchase an initial 78%
general partnership interest in Crown American Properties, L.P. (the "Operating Partnership"), a partmership which
was formed just prior to consummation of the offering referred to above. The current 27.53% minority limited
common partnership interests are held by Crown Investments Trust (“CIT” or “Crown Investments”) and by Crown
American Investment Company, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Crown Investments Trust, both of which are wholly-
owned subsidiaries of Crown Holding Company. The funds raised in the initial public offering were used by the
Operating Partnership to retire debt related to the Properties. As described in Note 6 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements, the Company also holds 100% of the preferred partnership interests in the Operating Partnership that
arose in connection with the Company’s issuance of preferred shares in July 1997,

Simultaneous with the initial public offering, Crown Associates and an affiliate transferred the
Properties and the management operations into either the Company, the Operating Partnership, or Crown American
Financing Partnership (the "Financing Partnership"), a partnership owned 99.5% by the Cperating Partnership and
0.5% by the Company. As a result of these transactions, the Company is engaged primarily in the ownership,
operation, management, leasing, acquisition, expansion, development and financing of shopping malls. In addition,
simultaneous with the above transaction, the Financing Partnership borrowed $300 million of mortgage debt
initially secured by 15 properties. The $300 million was used to retire existing debt related to the Properties. As
described in Note 5 to the Consolidated Financial Statements, in August 1998 the remaining balance of the $300
million of mortgage debt was refinanced in its entirety.

At the time of the initial public offering, the Company held an initial 78.00% partnership interest
in the Operating Partnership and Crown Investments held the remaining 22.00% interest. Subsequently, the
ownership interests have changed due to (i) Company shares issued for cash, issued under the Company’s option
plans, and issued under the dividend reinvestment plan {proceeds then reinvested by the Company in the Operating
Partnership in exchange for an equivalent number of additional common Partnership Units), (ii) additional
Partnership Units issued as partial consideration for the purchase of Wyoming Valley and Middletown Malls and
Greater Lewistown Plaza in 1998, (iii) issuance of preferred Partnership Units in exchange for cash contributed by
the Company to the Operating Partnership in connection with the Company’s 1997 offering of senior preferred
shares, and (iv) redemption of common and preferred Partnership Units in connection with the Company’s
repurchase in the open market of its common and preferred shares. While the Company, as general partner, has
broad rights and authority to conduct the business, the Operating Partnership agreement provides that the consent of
Crown Investments is required for certain actions, including among others, merger, consolidation, dissolution,
liquidation, or sale of all or substantially all of the assets of the Operating Partnership.




The number of common and preferred Partnership Units outstanding at December 31, 2001 were

as follows:
Held by Common Units Preferred Units
Number % Number %

Crown American Realty Trust 26,207,919 72.47% 2,475,000  100.00%
Crown Investments Trust and its subsidiary,

Crown American Investment Company 9,956,398 27.53% - -
Totals 36,164,317 100.60% 2.475.000 100.00%
{b) Financial Information About Industry Segments

The Company is primarily engaged in the business of owning, operating, managing, leasing,
acquiring, developing, redeveloping, expanding, renovating and financing enclosed shopping malls and, therefore,
only operates in one segment. See the Consolidated Financial Statements and Notes thereto referred to in Item 8§ of
this Annual Report on Form 10-K for certain financial information required by Item 1.

() Narrative Description of Business
General

The Company conducts all of its business activities through the Operating Partnership, the
Financing Partnership and other subsidiary partnerships or limited liability corporations (collectively the
“Partnerships”). Through its ownership interests in the Partnerships, as of December 31, 2001 the Company owns
in fee or through leasehold interests: (i) 26 wholly-owned enclosed shopping malls and a 50% partnership interest
in Palmer Park Mall (an enclosed shopping mall), (collectively, the "Malis"), (ii) an office building in Johnstown,
Pennsylvania with approximately 102,500 gross leasable square feet, which serves as the headquarters of the
Company and also is leased to Crown Associates' hotel division, to an affiliated company and to unrelated third
parties ("Pasquerilla Plaza™), (iii) a ground leasehold interest in a parcel of land with an approximate 108,000 square
foot building sub-leased to an anchor department store at Westgate Mall, a mall owned by an unaffiliated third party
(the "Anchor Pad"), and (iv) approximately 64 acres of outparcels and undeveloped land, the majority of which
adjoins or is in the vicinity of certain of the Malls (hereinafter all such real estate assets to be referred to as the
“Properties”). The Operating Partnership manages the 26 wholly-owned Malls and Pasquerilla Plaza (the “Managed
Properties”); the Anchor Pad and Palmer Park Mall are managed by non-affiliated third party property managers.

The Company is self-administered and self-managed. The Company, together with the
Partnerships, is a fully-integrated real estate company engaged in the ownership, operation, management, leasing,
acquisition, development, redevelopment, expansion, renovation and financing of enclosed shopping malls. The
Company also performs property management and leasing services for several retail properties owned by third
parties.

The Company's executive offices are located at Pasquerilla Plaza, Johnstown, Pennsylvania
15901. Its telephone number is (814) 536-4441, and its Internet web-site is www.crownamerican.com.

Operating Strategies and Practices

General. The Company's management believes that the shopping center business has evolved
from primarily a development activity to an operating business. The Company's management believes that a
shopping center company must be a fully integrated real estate company with asset management, property
management, leasing, expansion and renovation, acquisition, development and redevelopment, and financing
expertise.

Mall Management. The Operating Partnership performs all day-to-day property management
functions for the Managed Properties. These functions include leasing, construction, management, accounting,
finance, data processing, maintenance, marketing, promotion and security. The Company typically provides each
Managed Property with a general manager, who oversees the on-site staff, and a marketing director. In addition,
each Managed Property is further supported by regional group managers and multi-property operations, marketing
and support personnel.




Marketing Support. The Company has a Vice President of Marketing, a corporate marketing
director and two regional marketing directors who, in conjunction with Managed Property marketing directors,
develop customized marketing plans for each Managed Property, including special events, internet marketing, direct
mail and television, radio and newspaper advertising. '

Cost Controls. Management has developed a centralized program for purchasing selected supply
items, which permits ail Managed Properties to share in bulk purchase discounts. Management believes that
effective control of operating expenses will reduce common area charges which may enable the Company to
increase base rent levels.

To preserve and increase the value of the Managed Properties over the long term, the Company
has a program of preventive maintenance, renovations and expansion plans. The maintenance plans encompass
paving, roofing, HVAC and general improvements to the Managed Properties.

Business Objectives and Policies

The Company's business objective is to achieve long-term capital appreciation through increases
in cash flow and the value of the Company. The Company seeks to accomplish this objective through its direct and
indirect ownership of the Properties, management of properties for third parties, selective acquisitions and/or
development of additional malls or other real estate properties in the United States, improved operations of the
Properties, lease-up of unleased space and any acquired shopping centers and, where deemed appropriate,
renovations and expansions of these properties. A criterion for new investments will be that they offer the
opportunity for growth in cash flow and in Funds from Operations. As used herein, "Funds from Operations" means
net income before minority interest, extraordinary items and certain non-recurring items, real estate depreciation and
amortization, and additionally includes gain on sale of outparcel land sales and cash flow support eamed from
Crown Investments (See Note 8 to the Consolidated Financial Statements). The Company anticipates that new real
estate investments will be located primarily in the Eastern United States, but it may also consider purchasing
properties in other regions of the United States. All of the Company's activities will be conducted through the
Partnerships, although the Company may hold temporary cash investments from time to time pending investment or
distribution to shareholders.

The Company may purchase or lease properties for long-term investment, expand and improve the
Properties presently owned, or sell such Properties, in whole or in part, when circumstances warrant. The Company
may also participate with other entities in property ownership, through joint ventures or other types of co-
ownership. The Company expects that any single investment in a property would not exceed 10% of the Company's
assets. The Company's policy is to acquire assets primarily for income and long-term appreciation in value through
the implementation of the Company's asset management and operating strategies.

Disposition Objectives and Policies

The Company will dispose of any of the Properties, if, based upon management's periodic review
of the Company's portfolio, the Board of Trustees determines that such action would be in the best interests of the
Company. While no properties are classified as held for sale at December 31, 2001, the Company regularly
evaluates property dispositions in order to recycle capital for future investment opportunities, to lower leverage
levels, or to enhance cash flows and liquidity. It is possible that the net sales proceeds for some properties, if sold in
the future, could be lower than their current net book value, which would result in a loss upon possible future sale.

Financing

The Company maintains working capital and lines of credit that, together with potential access to
borrowings and other sources of funds, it believes is adequate for the current conduct of its business and
imvestments in the ordinary course. The principal financing activities of the Company during 2001 included: (i)
additional borrowings of $16.8 million (net of escrow deposits and issuance costs) under its lines of credit, much of
which was used to fund construction and tenant allowance costs for various projects, (ii) $19.5 million in debt
amortization and line of credit repayments, (iii) $43.9 million paid in common and preferred dividends, and (iv)
$3.1 million received in Cash Flow Support (see Note 8 to the Consolidated Financial Statements).

In the first quarter of 2001, the Company entered into swap agreements on a notional amount of
$35 million of the Company's floating rate debt. The effective LIBOR swap rate on the two agreements is 5.197%
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and their terms expire on February 1, 2003. The Company has designated this transaction as a cash flow hedge of a
floating-rate liability and has applied the guidance set forth in SFAS No. 133, Accounting for Derivative
Instruments and Hedging Activities to this transaction. The fair value of these transactions is recorded in the
balance sheet, with the offset to Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss. As of December 31, 2001, there was a
cumulative mark to market loss on the swap agreements of $1.1 million which has been reflected in Accumulated
Cther Comprehensive Loss.

On January 3, 2002 the Company closed a $53.3 miilion loan with a lender secured by its Capital
City Mall in Harrisburg, PA with only limited recourse to the Company. The loan bears interest at a stated annual
fixed rate of approximately 7.6%, and is interest-only during the first two years, and then amortizes during the last
eight years based on a 28-year amortization schedule. Of the total proceeds from the new loan, $42.5 million was
used to prepay an existing 8.27% mortgage loan on Capital City Mall, which included a $4.1 million yield
maintenance prepayment penalty. This prepayment penalty, together with $0.2 million of unamortized deferred
financing costs, will be recorded as an extraordinary loss in January 2002. The remaining proceeds were used for
loan closing costs and various loan reserves aggregating $1.7 million, with the balance of $2.1 million of net
proceeds available for general corporate purposes for the Company.

If the Board of Trustees determines that additional funding is required, the Company or the
Partnerships may raise such funds through a variety of options including additional infusions of equity (public or
private and at the Company or the Partnership level), debt financing or retention of additional cash flow by reducing
the dividend amount per share (subject to limitations regarding the taxability of undistributed real estate investment
trust income), or a combination of these metheds. Given the Company’s current level of indebtedness, and given
the uncertainties concerning future equity and debt capital markets and interest rates, there is no assurance that the
Company will be able to secure such future infusions of equity and/or debt financing when needed, or at rates or
terms that will permit the Company to use the proceeds raised to increase net income or Funds from Operations. It
is anticipated that any additional borrowings will be made through the Partnerships either directly or indirectly;
however, the Company may also incur indebtedness, the proceeds from which may be re-loaned to the Partnerships.
Indebtedness incurred by the Company may be in the form of bank borrowings, secured and unsecured, and
publicly and privately placed debt. Indebtedness incurred by the Partnerships may be in the form of purchase
money obligations to the sellers of properties, publicly or privately placed debt, financing from banks, institutional
investors or other lenders, any of which indebtedness may be unsecured or may be secured by mortgages or other
interests in the property owned by the Partnerships. Such indebtedness may be recourse to all or any part of the
Properties to be owned by the Partmerships, may be limited to the particular property to which the indebtedness
relates, and may be guaranteed by the Company.

Strategy for Growth

It is the objective of the Company's management to achieve growth in Funds from Operations by
maximizing cash flow from existing Properties through increased occupancy and increased rent, expanding and/or
renovating existing Properties, acquiring and, to a lesser extent, developing properties, managing properties for
others, and by selling properties that are not consistent with or essential to the Company’s long-term growth
strategies.

The Company follows a program of renovation and expansion in circumstances where
management believes that higher rental rates and occupancy levels can be achieved. The Company intends to
continue to monitor opportunities for expansion and reconfiguration and to capitalize on such opportunities in part
through utilizing its relationships with existing tenants and its extensive contacts with the retailing community. The
Company intends to undertake development activities as opportunities arise. The Company's primary acquisition
strategy is to purchase under-performing shopping centers in desirable areas and to improve their performance
through a comprehensive program of renovation, expansion, reconfiguration, and re-merchandising. The Company
may acquire shopping centers in different regional markets to facilitate gecgraphic diversification of its real estate
holdings. The acquisition of larger properties, or a group of properties, may be undertaken with an institutional or
joint venture partner.

Because the Company's revenues and expenses are subject to a variety of factors, many of which
(such as local and national economic conditions, interest rates and the financial performance of the Company's
tenants) are beyond the Company's control, there can be no assurance that the Company's management, leasing and
acquisition strategies will achieve the Company's growth objectives.



Competitive Position

The Malls are generally located in middle markets where there are relatively few other enclosed
malls, making most of them the dominant enclosed mall in their respective trade areas; 23 Malls are the largest
enclosed malls in their primary trade areas, of which 12 are the only enclosed mall in their primary trade areas.

Sixteen Malls are located in the state of Pennsylvania and one is located in New Jersey near the
Pennsylvania border. Two of the Malls are located in Virginia, two in Maryland, two in West Virginia, two in
eastern Tennessee, one in eastern North Carolina, and one in northwestern Georgia.

The Company, and its predecessor, have continually expanded and rencvated its Malls to maintain
their competitive position. Twenty-two of the Malls have had at least one expansion or renovation since they were
completed, and 18 of the Malls have been expanded more than once. Approximately 1.8 millicn square feet of
remaining expansion capacity is available and can be used to maintain and enhance the quality of the Malls and
their competitive position in their trade areas.

Although management believes the Malls can compete effectively within their trade areas, the
Company must also compete with other owners, managers and developers of retail shopping centers and malls.
Many of its competitors may be at an advantage to the extent they can utilize working capital and retained earnings
to finance projects while the Company is required to satisfy the REIT qualification requirements under the Internal
Revenue Code of 1986 (the “Code™), which include a requirement to distribute specified amounts of its annual
taxable income, as defined in the Code (See Income Taxes section following for additional information). In
addition, retailers at the Malls face increasing competition from discount shopping centers, outlet malls, shopping
clubs, direct mail, telemarketing, internet shopping, and home shopping television networks.

Employees

As of December 31, 2001, the Operating Partnership has 555 full-time employees in the following
operational areas:

Number of

Employees
Asset and property management (including on-site) 462
Leasing and lease administration 17
Development and construction services 12
Financial, accounting, MIS and legal services 43
Executive management and corporate administration 21
555

None of the Operating Partnership's employees are currently represented by any union. The
Company, the Financing Partnership and other partnerships do not have any paid employees, but officers of the
Operating Partnership are also officers of the Company and the other partnerships. The Company's management
considers its relations with the employees of the Operating Partnership to be satisfactory.

Business Issues

As the owner of real estate, the Company is subject to risks arising in connection with the
underlying real estate, including defaults under or non-renewal of tenant leases, bankruptcy of tenants, competition,
inability to rent unleased space, failure to generate sufficient income to meet operating expenses, as well as debt
service, capital expenditures and tenant improvements, environmental matters, financing availability and changes in
real estate and zoning laws. The success of the Company also depends upon certain key personnel, the Company's
ability to maintain its qualification as a REIT, compliance with the terms and conditions of the Mortgage Loans and
other indebtedness, and trends in the national and local economy, including interest rates, income tax laws,
governmental regulations and legislation and population trends.




Income Taxes

The Company elected to be taxed as a Real Estate Investment Trust (REIT) under Sections 856
through 860 of the Code, commencing with its first taxable year ended December 31, 1993, and intends to conduct
its operations so as to continue to qualify as a REIT under the Code. As a REIT, the Company generally will not be
subject to Federal and state income taxes cn its net taxable income that it cuirently distributes to shareholders.
Qualification and taxation as a REIT depends on the Company’s ability to meet certain dividend distribution tests,
share ownership requirements and various qualification tests prescribed in the Code.

If the Company fails to qualify as a REIT in any taxable year, the Company will be subject to
Federal and state income taxes (including any applicable alternative minimum tax) on its taxable income at regular
corporate rates. Even if the Company qualifies for taxation as a REIT, the Company may be subject to certain state
and local taxes on its income and property and to Federal income and excise taxes on its undistributed income.

Environmental Matters

The Company believes that the Properties are in compliance in all material respects with all
federal, state and local ordinances and regulations regarding hazardous or toxic substances. The Company is not
aware of any environmental condition which the Company believes would have a material adverse effect on the
Company's business, assets or results of operations (before consideration of any potential insurance coverage).
Nevertheless, it is possible that there are material environmental liabilities of which the Company is unaware.
Moreover, no assurances can be given that (i) future laws, ordinances or regulations will not impose any material
environmental liability or (ii) the current environmental condition of the Properties have not been or will not be
affected by tenants and occupants of the Properties, by the condition of properties in the vicinity of the Properties or
by third parties unrelated to the Company.

Many of the Malls contain, or at one time contained, underground and/or above ground storage
tanks used to store waste oils or other petroleum products primarily related to the operation of auto service center
establishments at such Malls, and one Mall was constructed on a site a portion of which had been previously used as
a municipal landfill. In some cases, underground storage tanks have been abandoned in place, filled in with inert
materials or removed and replaced with above ground tanks. Historical records indicate that soil and groundwater
contamination from underground tanks and, in one case, a hydraulic lift, requiring remediation has occurred at five
of the Properties, and subsurface investigations (Phase II assessments) and remediation work are either ongoing or
scheduled to be conducted by the Company at such Properties. The costs of remediation with respect to such
matters have not been significant to date and are not expected to have a significant adverse impact on the
Company's future results of operations or it financial condition.

There are also minor amounts of asbestos-containing materials ("ACM") in most of the Properties,
primarily in the form of floor tiles, mastics and roofing materials, which are generally in good condition.
Fireproofing and insulation containing asbestos is also present in certain Properties in non—public areas, such as
mechanical rooms. The Company believes that the presence of these ACM does not violate current law. In
addition, the Company has an ongoing program of reviewing spaces that have been vacated by tenants and
occupants of the Properties for the presence of ACM, and removing any ACM discovered in such spaces before
reletting the same to new tenants or occupants.

Two Malls also contain waste water treatment facilities which treat waste water at the Malls
before discharge into local streams. Operation of such facilities is subject to federal and state regulation. All
necessary permits have been obtained and the Company's management believes such facilities are in compliance
with current law.

Ttem 2. Properties.
(2) The Malls

Through its ownership interests in the Partnerships, the Company owns the Malls, which consist
of 26 wholly-owned enclosed shopping malls and a 50% partnership interest in Palmer Park Mall (an enclosed
shopping mall). All of the Malls have department stores and other large space users as anchor tenants (the
"Anchors"), as described in the table on the following pages. All of the Malls have numerous diversified retail
stores, and in some instances a few office or non-retail tenants (the "Mall Stores"), which are located along enclosed
malls connecting the Anchors. Additional freestanding retail stores and ground lease properties (the "Freestanding
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Stores") are located along the perimeter of the parking areas at 17 of the Malls. Unless otherwise indicated, the
information provided in this [tem 2 is stated as of December 31, 2001.

The Company, through the Partnerships, owns all of the properties in fee, except Palmer Park
Mail, Shenango Valley Mall, Uniontown Mall and Crossroads Mall. Palmer Park Mall Venture, in which the
Company has a 50% general partnership interest, holds title in fee to Palmer Park Mall. Shenango Valley Mall,
Uniontown Mall and Crossroads Mall are subject to third-party ground leases.

The total gross leasable area (“GLA”) of the Malls is approximately 16.3 million square feet,
including Anchors, Mall Stores and Freestanding Stores. As used herein, GLA of a Mall includes the GLA
attributable to all Anchors, including thirteen anchor locations owned by their occupants or other entities. Anchors,
Mall Stores and Freestanding Stores account for approximately 60%, 35% and 5%, respectively, of the total GLA of
the Mails. Excluding Freestanding Stores, the enclosed Malls range in size from approximately 265,000 to 850,000
square feet of GLA with an average size of approximately 572,000 square feet of GLA. Each Mall has ample
surface parking with 21 of the Malls having parking ratios above 5.0 per 1,000 square feet of GLA.

At December 31, 2001, 99% of the Company-owned anchor GLA was leased and occupied, and
all twelve non-owned anchor stores were occupied. Vacant non-revenue generating anchor premises at
December 31, 2001 consist of a former Proffitt’s store at Oak Ridge Mall which closed in 1999 and a former J.C.
Penney store at Carlisle Mall which closed in 1998.

Mall Store GLA was 87% leased at December 31, 2001, and freestanding space was 83%
occupied at December 31, 2001. All references herein to occupancy rates and to leased space for mall shop tenants
include signed leases with tenants that have not yet taken occupancy.

There are several types of retail shopping centers, varying primarily by size and marketing
strategy. Retail shopping centers of 100,000 square feet to 400,000 square feet of GLA are considered
"community" shopping centers, and those in excess of 400,000 square feet of GLA are considered "regional”
shopping centers, and those having in excess of 800,000 square feet of GLA are considered "super-regional”
shopping centers. Twenty-three of the Malls are considered regional shopping centers, two are super-regional, and
two are community shopping centers.

The Malls generally are located in middle markets where there are relatively few other enclosed
shopping malls. The Company's management believes that the Malls have strong competitive positions because 23
are the largest, of which 12 are the only, enclosed regional shopping malls in their respective primary trade areas.
No one Mall accounted for more than 5.6% of the total GLA of the Malls or 6.7% of total revenues for the year
ended December 31, 2001.

A substantial portion of the income from the Malls consists of rent received under long-term
leases. Generally, the leases provide for tenants to pay rent comprised of two elements. The first element is fixed
base rent, which typically increases according to a schedule agreed upon at the time of lease inception. The second
element is percentage rent, which is based on a percentage of gross sales in excess of a specified minimum annual
amount. In some cases tenants only pay fixed base rent or only pay percentage rent.

Most of the leases for Mall Stores contain provisions allowing the Company to recover certain
costs for common area maintenance, property taxes and other expenditures related to the day-to-day operations of
the Malis. In addition, most of the Mall Store leases include provisions that allow the Company to recover costs
associated with roof and parking lot repairs and other capital expenditures. Most Anchors also contribute to certain
of these costs.

Unless otherwise noted, the following table sets forth certain information regarding the Malls as of
December 31, 2001:




Property/Location {1

Pennsylvania

Capital City Mall
Camp Hill, PA

Carlisle Plaza Mall

Carlisle, PA

Chambersburg Mall
Chambersburg, PA

Logan Valley Mall

Altoona, PA

Lycoming Mall
Williamsport, PA

Nittany Mall
State College, PA

North Hanover Mali

Hanover, PA

Palmer Park Mall
Easton, PA

Schuylkill Mall
Frackville, PA

Square Feet of GLA (1)

Malt
Anchor
Freestanding
Total GLA

Mall
Anchor

Freestanding
Total GLA

Mall
Anchor
Total GLA

Mall
Anchor
Total GLA

Mall
Anchor
Freestanding
Total GLA

Mall
Anchor
Freestanding
Total GLA

Maill

Anchor
Freestanding
Total GLA

Mall
Anchor
Freestanding
Total GLA

Mall
Anchor
Freestanding
Total GLA

239,137
324,462
46, 158
609,757

142,341
154,335

45.209
341,885

212,893
241,690
454,583

330,721
453,643
784,364

314,842
453,936

25.857
794,635

210,325
317,316
—3.568
531,209

132,137
288,932

28.836
449,905

131,820
314,235

684
446,739

275,560
407,906

45.773
729,239

% of GLA
Leased as of

December 31, 2001 (2

97.0%
100.0%
100.0%
98.8%

57.3%
74.8%
86.9%
68.4%

94.9%
100.0%
97.6%

91.9%

100.0%
96.6%

84.8%
100.0%
99.9%
94.0%

89.4%
100.6%
160.0%
95.8%

90.9%
100.0%
30.7%
92.5%

76.8%
100.0%
100.0%
93.1%

67.1%
100.0%
90.5%
87.0%

(1), (2), (3), (4), (5), (8), (12) - See pages 11 and 12 for explanation.

Anchors

Sears
J.C. Penney
Hecht's (8)

Bon-Ton

Albion
Antiques (4)

Vacant (4)

Bon Ton
Value City
Sears

J.C. Penney

Kaufmann's
Sears
J.C. Penney

J.C. Penney
Bon Ton

Sears

Yalue City
Kaufmann's (3)

'Bon-Ton

J.C. Penney
Sears
Kaufmann's (3)

J.C. Penney

Sears

Boen Ton

Black Rose
Antiques (5)

Bon-Ton
Boscov's

K-Mart

Sears

Phar-Mor

Bon-Ton (8)

Black Diamond
Antiques (12)

Lease or
Easement

Operating
Covenant

Expiration Expiration

2004
2010
2093

2005

2005
2007
2010
2012

2005
2016
2017

2005
2006
2008
2008
2093

2003
2005
2005
2048

2006
2004
2006

2014
2018

2005
2005
2006
2032

2003

Sep-02

Aug-02

Mar-09

Expired




% of GLA
Leased as of

Lease or  Operating
Easement Covenant

Property/Location (1) Square Feet of GLA (1) December 31, 2001 (2) Anchors Expiration Expiration
Pennsylvania (continued)
Shenango Valley Mall Mall 105,951 74.2% J.C. Penney 2004
Sharon, PA Anchor 385,276 100.0% Sears 2005
Freestanding 22.140 12.0% Kaufmann's 2006
Total GLA 513,367 90.9%
South Mall Mall 76,316 99.8% Bon-Ton 2005
Allentown, PA Anchor 188,737 100.0% Phar-Mor 2006
Freestanding 141.674 78.2% Stein Mart 2006
Total GLA 406,727 92.4%
Uniontown Mall Mall 240,577 85.5% Value City 2002
Uniontown, PA Anchor 411,381 100.0% Sears 2003
Freestanding 45.978 100.0% Roomful Express
Total GLA 697,936 95.0% Furniture 2005
J.C. Penney 2005
Teletech 2005
Bon-Ton 2006
Viewmont Mall Mall 206,554 98.6% J.C. Penney 2005
Scranton, PA Anchor 532,058 100.0% Sears 2005
Freestanding 31,848 98.1% Kaufmann's (8) 2050 Aug-02
Total GLA 770,460 99.6%
Washington Crown
Center Mall 226,320 80.8% Ames 2006
Washington, PA Anchor 441,286 100.0% Sears 2009
Freestanding 3.132 100.0% Bon-Ton 2010
Total GLA 670,738 93.5% Hollywood
Theaters 2019
Kaufmann's (8) 2048 Oct-09
Westgate, PA Mall - 0.0% Bon-Ton (14) 2005
Anchor 108,100 100.0%
Freestanding - 0.0%
Total GLA 108,100 100.0%
West Manchester Mall Mall 296,082 75.4% Bon Ton 2007
York, PA Anchor 407,366 100.0% Value City 2011
Total GLA 703,448 89.7% Wal-Mart 2014
Hecht's (3) 2094 Oct-02
Wyoming Valley Mall Mall 238,586 93.3% Bon-Ton 2007
Wilkes-Barre, PA Anchor 585,676 100.0% J.C. Penney 2007
Freestanding 93.647 84.6% Kaufmann's (6) 2007
Total GLA 917,509 96.7% Kaufmann's (6) 2007
Sears 2006

(1), (2), (3), (6), (8), (14) - See Pages 11 and 12 for explanation.




% of GLA Lease or  Operating

Leased as of - Easement Covenant
Property/Location (1 Square Feet of GLA (1) December 31, 2001 (2 Anchors Expiration Expiration
Maryland
Francis Scott Key Mall Mall 273,580 91.5% J.C. Penney 2002
Frederick, MD Anchor 431,063 100.0% Sears 2003
Freestanding 2417 100.0% Value City 2010
Total GLA 707,060 96.7% Hecht's (8) 2043
Valley Mall Mall 254,082 99.3% J.C. Penney 2009
Hagerstown, MD Anchor 595,866 100.0% Bon Ton 2014
Freestanding 48.762 99.9% R/C Theaters 2020
Total GLA 898,710 99.8% Sears (8) (13) 2044  Oct-09 (13)
Hecht's (8) 2049  Oct-09 (13)
New Jersey
Phillipsburg Mall Mall 230,076 85.9% Sears 2004
Phillipsburg, NJ Anchor 306,541 100.0% Bon-Ton 2010
Freestanding 15.065 16.8% J.C. Penney 2010
Total GLA 551,682 93.5% K-Mart 2015
North Carolina
Jacksonville Mall Mall 172,011 99.0% J.C. Penney 2005
Jacksonville, NC Anchor 242.121 100.0% Belk Rhodes 2011
Total GLA 414,132 99.6% Sears 2011
Virginia
New River Valley Mall Mall 188,064 86.1% Belk Rhodes 2008
Christiansburg, VA Anchor 240,753 100.0% J.C. Penney 2008
Total GLA 428,817 93.9% Sears 2008
Peebles 2009
Patrick Henry Mall Mall 233,924 97.7% Dillard's (7) 2008
Newport News, VA Anchor 407.644 100.0% Dillard's (7) 2013
Total GLA 641,568 99.2% J.C. Penney 2015
Hecht's (8) 2048 Nov-08
Georgia
Mt. Berry Square Mall 208,805 73.9% J.C. Penney 2006
Rome, GA Anchor 269.868 100.0% Belk Rhodes 2011
Total GLA 478,673 88.6% Sears 2011
Proffitt's 2012
Tennessee
Bradley Square Mall 145,365 74.0% Sears 2005
Cleveland, TN Anchor 258.684 100.0% J.C. Penney 2006
Total GLA 404,049 90.7% Proffitt's 2006
K-Mart 2012

(1), (2), (7, (8), (13) - See Pages 11 and 12 for explanation.
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% of GLA Lease or  Operating

Leased as of Easement Covenant
Property/Location (1) Square Feet of GLA (1) December 31, 2001 (2) Anchors Expiration Expiration
Tenmnessee (continued)
Qak Ridge Mall Mall 226,869 31.5% Sears 2005
Oak Ridge, TN Anchor 467,460 88.6% J.C. Penney 2007
Freestanding 193451 81.2% Proffitt's 2013
Total GLA 887,780 72.4% Wal-Mart (8)
(10) 2099
Vacant (11)
West Virginia
Crossroads Mall Mall 193,417 96.7% J.C. Penney 2006
Mount Hope, WV Anchor 256,248 100.0% Sears 2006
Total GLA 449,665 98.6% Belk Rhodes 2008
Martinsburg Mall Mall 165,149 77.8% J.C. Penney 2011
Martinsburg, WV Anchor 391,270 100.0% Sears 2011
Total GLA 556,419 93.4% Wal-Mart 2011
Bon-Ton 2012
Totals for all Malls Mall 5,671,504 87.0%
Anchor 9,883,853 (9) 99.1%
Freestanding 794,199 83.0%
Total GLA 16,349,556 94.1%
1) Location is the major city or town nearest to the property, and is not necessarily the local jurisdiction in

which the property is located. GLA includes the total square footage of the Anchors, Mall Stores and
Freestanding Stores.

(2) Occupancy includes both tenants in occupancy and tenants that have signed leases but have not yet taken
occupancy as of December 31, 2001.

3) Tenant currently holds a long-term ground lease with nominal purchase option. These locations are
deemed owned by their anchor occupants as they only pay a nominal rent.

4) Albion Antiques is the name given to the former Kmart anchor space now substantially leased on a month-

to-month basis to approximately 120 antique dealers. Albion Antiques is currently generating
approximately $65,000 in annual net income from these tenants and accordingly this space is considered to
be occupied in the accompanying occupancy statistics. The 38,000 square foot former J.C. Penney store
remains vacant.

(%) Black Rose Antiques is the name given to the former Kmart anchor space now substantially leased on a
month-to-month basis to approximately 160 antique dealers. Black Rose Antiques is currently generating
approximately $166,000 in annual net income from these tenants, and accordingly this space is considered
to be occupied in the accompanying occupancy statistics.

(6) Kaufmann’s (a division of May Department Stores) operates two stores at Wyoming Valley Mall; one for
women’s and children’s apparel and home fumishings and one for men’s apparel.

¥)) Dillards operates two stores one for women'’s apparel and one for men’s and children’s apparel.

8) Tenant owns its store and the land under the store and operates under a reciprocal easement agreement.
The lease expiration date reflects the expiration of the agreement.

(9) Includes 1,530,000 square feet of space related to 12 stores that are owned or deemed owned under long-

term lease purchase agreements by their anchor occupants, which are noted under (3) and (8) above.

(10) In July 2000 Wal-Mart purchased its store and 15.4 acres of land as further described in Note 14 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements.

11 In August 1999 Proffitt’s lease on their 50,000 square foot store expired, and they vacated the store. This s
tore remained vacant at December 31, 2001. Proffitt’s continues to operate its other store in this mall.
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(12) Black Diamond Antiques is the name given to the former anchor space now substantially leased on a
month-to-month basis to approximately 51 antique dealers. Even though this operation is considered in the
developmental phase, the space is considered to be occupied in the accompanying occupancy statistics.

(13) In April 2001, Sears acquired the land and building formerly owned by Montgomery Wards and Sears took
assignment and assumption of the existing Reciprocal Construction Operation and Reciprocal Easement
Agreement. Sears is expected to open their store in March 2002. Sears has committed to an operating
covenant to expire in Octcber 26, 2009.

(14) Refer to description below (The Anchor Pad).

(b) Other Properties

The Company also has ownership interests in Pasquerilla Plaza and the Anchor Pad, as described
below, and also owns a total of approximately 64 acres of undeveloped land in the vicinity of certain of the Malls
which is available for development, lease or sale to tenants or others.

Pasquerilla Plaza is a five-story building located in Johnstown, Pennsylvania, built in 1989, and
contains 102,500 square feet of leasable area. The Company, as owner of Pasquerilla Plaza, uses approximately
74,000 square feet as its headquarters space. Approximately 14,600 square feet is leased to Crown Associates and
affiliates for annual base rent of approximately $278,000. Approximately 13,000 square feet is currently leased to
third parties. Net rental revenue from Pasquerilla Plaza from tenants other than Crown Associates and affiliates was
$238,000 for the year ended December 31, 2001.

The Anchor Pad. The Anchor Pad is located at Westgate Mall in Bethlehem, Pennsylvania.
Westgate Mall is owned by a third party unaffiliated with the Company and the Anchor Pad is ground leased by
such third party to the Company. The site encompasses 10 acres with an approximately 108,100 gross square foot
anchor store and a detached freestanding building of 5,000 square feet. Bon-Ton subleases the anchor store and the
freestanding building from the Company. The ground lease expired on November 22, 2000; the Company has
exercised an option to purchase the land fee interest for $500,000. In 2000, the Company commenced an action in
the Court of Common Pleas of Lehigh County, PA to compel the ground lessor to complete the purchase. An
appeal taken by the ground lessor to a pre-trial order entered by the lower court in favor of the Company has been
denied by both the Pennsylvania Superior and Supreme Courts. Rental revenue from the Anchor sublease was
$291,000 in 2001.

Management and Leasing Contracts. In October 2001, the Company entered into a two-year
contract to manage and lease Laurel Mall located in Laurel, Maryland. Laurel Mall contains 655,000 square feet of
retail space and is centrally located in the Baltimore-Washington corridor. The contract began in December 2001
and represented the Company's first third party mall management contract. The Company had previously entered
into two contracts to lease an enclosed mall and another retail property that are owned by third parties.

In connection with the execution of the Laurel Mall management contract, the Company issued
warrants to the mall owner for up to 100,000 common shares of beneficial interest of the Company at an exercise
price of $9.00 per share on the exercise date. The holder shall become vested in the warrant shares only if the
Company is retained as manager for at least two years or if the Company resigns or is terminated. The warrant shall
expire and shall no longer be exercisable five business days after December 31, 2006. In the event of the
Company's termination, the warrants must be exercised within 30 days of such termination.

(e) Property Insurance

The Company's management believes that all Properties described herein under Items 2(a) and
2(b) which are owned by the Company, in whole or in part, are adequately covered by insurance.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

The Company and its subsidiaries from time to time are subject to litigation and claims, both asserted and
unasserted, incidental to their businesses, some of which may be substantial . After consuliations with legal counsel
and other advisors, management believes that the Company has recognized adequate provisions for probable and
reasonably estimable liabilities associated with these matters. While these matters may impact quarterly or annual
results of operations and cash flows when resolved in future periods, based upon information currently available,
management does not believe that the ultimate resolution of these claims and litigaticn will have a material adverse
effect on the financial position of the Company. The Shareholder litigation discussed below has now been resolved.
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Shareholder litigation

On August 10, 1995, August 17, 1995, and September 8, 1995 complaints were filed by various
individuals on behalf of themselves and also purportedly on behalf of other similarly situated persons against the
Company and certain of its executive officers in the United States District Court for the Western District of
Pennsylvania to recover unspecified damages under the federal securities laws resulting from the decline in the
market price for the Company’s common shares of beneficial interest which are listed and traded on the New York
Stock Exchange. The decline in the Company's share price followed the announcement on August 8, 1995 of
various operational and capital resource initiatives by the Company, including the reduction of the Company's
quarterly dividend to increase its levels of retained internal cash flow and the planned sale of certain assets that at
the time did not fit with the Company's growth strategy. The complaints in these three cases were consolidated by
the Court and a consolidated amended comp!laint was filed on July 30, 1996 (the Consolidated action).

A fourth complaint was filed the week of December 15, 1995 by an individual on behalf of
himself and also purportediy on behalf of other similarly situated persons against the Company and certain of its
current and former executive officers in the United States District Court for the Eastern District of Pennsylvania (the
Warden action). This action was subsequently transferred to the Western District of Pennsylvania. Both the
Warden action and the Consolidated action have now been dismissed with prejudice.

On January 9, 2001, the plaintiffs from the dismissed Warden action and a third individual filed a
state court action in the Court of Commen Pleas of Philadelphia County (the Stein action). In the Stein action, the
plaintiffs allege state law claims against the Company which are substantially similar to the claims and allegations
made in the Warden action and which were dismissed with prejudice by the United States District Court for the
Western District of Pennsylvania and the Third Circuit Court of Appeals. After transfer of the Stein action to
Cambria County, the plaintiffs agreed to settle their remaining individual claims. The settlement will be paid
entirely by the Company's insurer.

Ttem 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Helders.

No matters were submitted to a vote of security holders of the Company during the fiscal quarter
ended December 31, 2001.

EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE COMPANY

The following table sets forth certain information with respect to the executive officers of the
Company as of February 18, 2002.

Name Age  Cffice with the Company
Mark E. Pasquerilla 42 Chairman of the Board of Trustees, Chief Executive Office, and President
Nicholas O. Antonazzo 64 Executive Vice President, Development
Thomas Stephenson 60 Executive Vice President, Asset Management
Terry L. Stevens 53 Trustee, Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer
Donato B. Zucco 61 Trustee, Senior Vice President, Chief Administrative Officer
Robert J. Griffith 55 Senior Vice President, Real Estate Leasing

Mark E. Pasquerilla, Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and President, directs all operational
activities, establishes corperate policy and provides overall strategic direction for the Company. Mr. Pasquerilla
was named President in 1990, Vice Chairman in 1998 and Chairman, CEC and President in 1999. MTr. Pasquerilla
was a member of the Governor of Pennsylvania’s Economic Development Partnership Council from 1987 to 1995,
and is a former Fullbright-Hayes Scholar. In addition, Mr. Pasquerilla is a member of the Board of Directors and
the Executive Committee of AmeriServ Financial, Inc., and a member of the Board of Directors of Concurrent
Technologies Corporation.

Nicholas C. Antonazzo became Executive Vice President, Development, of the Company upon its
formation. Mr. Antonazzo directs the expansion and redevelopment of regional malls and anchor department store
relations. He has also served as Executive Vice President of Development of Crown Associates from 1987 to
August 16, 1993. Mr. Antonazzo is a former state director for the International Council of Shopping Centers and is
admitted to practice law before the Pennsylvania Supreme and Superior Courts.
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Thomas Stephenson became Executive Vice President, Asset Management, upon joining the
Company in April 1994. Mr. Stephenson is responsible for directing the operations of the Company's regional
shopping mall portfolio. He served as Senior Vice President of Operations for The Hahn Company (a shopping
center developer and manager) from 1987 to 1994 and as Vice President of Operations from 1983 to 1987.
Previously, he was with Trizec Corporation, Ltd. (a shopping center developer and manager) from 1971 to 1983 as
Vice President of Operations. Mr. Stephenson is a CPA.

Terry L. Stevens is Trustee, Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of the
Company. He is responsible for all finance and treasury functions including debt and equity financing, property
acquisitions and dispositions, all accounting, reporting, and MIS functions, and is also actively involved in investor
relations. Mr. Stevens joined the Company in May 1994 as Vice President and Chief Accounting Officer, and he
was promoted to Senior Vice President in February 1995, to CFO in September 1998, and was named Trustee and
Executive Vice President in May 1999. Prior to joining the Company Mr. Stevens was Director of Financial
Systems at AlliedSignal, Inc., a large multi-national manufacturer, from 1990 to 1994. He also spent 18 years with
Price Waterhouse, an international accounting firm, including seven years as an audit partner. Mr. Stevens is a
CPA.

Donato B. Zucco, Ph.D., is Trustee, Senior Vice President and Chief Administrative Officer of the
Company. He is responsible for a wide variety of administrative activities that support the Company’s business
units, which include Facilities Planning, Human Resources, Corporate Communications, Legal and Risk
Management. Dr. Zucco joined the Company in January 1991 as Senior Vice President and Chief Administrative
Officer and was named Trustee in October 1999. He alsc serves as a member of the Board of Directors of First
National Bank of Pennsylvania. Dr. Zucco presides as the Mayor of the City of Johnstown.

Robert J. Griffith became Senior Vice President, Real Estate Leasing in 1995. Mr. Griffith is
responsible for all aspects of the Company’s mall shop leasing program. He has over twenty years of experience in
the leasing field. Mr. Griffith is an active member of the International Council of Shopping Centers and is licensed
by the Real Estate Commission of Pennsylvania.

The executive officers are elected annually by the Board of Trustees at an organization meeting

which is held immediately after each Annual Meeting of Shareholders. The executive officers of the Company
serve in the identical offices in each of the Partnerships.
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PART I

Ttem 5. Market for Registrant's Commeon Shares of Beneficial Interest and Related Shareholder
Matters

The shares are listed on the New York Stock Exchange (symbol: CWN). As of February 18,
2002, there were 26,208,049 common shares issued and outstanding, held by 1,082 holders of record. The high and
low sales price of the common shares and dividends paid per common share during each quarter in 2001 and 2000
were as follows:

2001 2000
High Low Dividend High Low Dividend
Quarter ended March 31 $6.95 $5.25 $0.2075 $61/2 $53/16 $0.2050
Quarter ended June 30 $8.72 $6.61 $0.2100 $6 $413/16  $0.2075
Quarter ended September 30 $8.70 $6.60 $0.2100 $65/16  $53/16 $0.2075
Quarter ended December 31 $8.10 $6.81 $0.2100 361/16 $51/8 $0.2075
Item 6. Selected Financial Data

The following table sets forth selected consolidated financial data for the Company, its wholly-
owned subsidiaries, and its majority—owned subsidiary, the Operating Partnership. The Company is sole general
partner in the Operating Partnership, and as of December 31, 2001 holds 100% of the preferred partnership interests
(see Note 6 to the Consolidated Financial Statements) and 72.47% of the common partnership interests. The
Operating Partnership directly owns the fee or leasehold interests in six malls, the 50% joint venture interest in
Palmer Park Mall, the Corporate headquarters building, and the Westgate anchor pad. All remaining properties are
owned by seven partnerships and limited liability companies that are 99.5% or 100.0% owned by the Operating
Partnership. The remaining 0.5% interests in these second-tier entities are owned by the Company through its
wholly-owned subsidiaries. The selected financial data should be read in conjunction with the Consolidated
Financial Statements and Notes thereto in Item 8, and "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations" in Item 7 in the Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Industry analysts historically have considered Funds from Operations (“FFO”) to be an
appropriate measure of performance for an equity REIT. Funds from Operations means net income (computed in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles) before minority interest, real estate depreciation and
amortization, and extraordinary and certain non-recurring items, and additionally includes cash flow support earned
from Crown Investments (see Note 8 to the Consolidated Financial Statements). Management believes that Funds
from Operations is an appropriate measure of the Company’s operating performance because reductions for real
estate depreciation and amortization charges are not meaningful in evaluating the operating results of the Properties,
which have historically been appreciating assets. Gains on sales of outparcel land are included in this measure of
performance. Gains or losses on sales of operating properties and anchor store locations are excluded from FFO
because such transactions are uncommon and not a part of ongoing operations.

In 1999 the National Association of Real Estate Investment Trusts (NAREIT) adopted changes to
the definition of Funds from Operations that became effective in 2000; all prior years’ reported FFO was restated to
conform to the new changes. The primary impact on the Company was that certain “non-recurring” items
previously excluded from FFO are now included. As a result, the restructuring costs of $2,251,000 in 1999 and
$369,000 in 2000 have been deducted from FFO.

EBITDA is defined as revenues and gain on sales of outparcel land, less mall operating costs and
corporate general and administrative expenses, but before interest, and all depreciation and amortization.
Management believes this measure provides the clearest indicator of operating performance for the following
reasons: (i) it is industry practice to evaluate the performance of real estate properties based on net operating
income (or NOI), which is generally equivalent to EBITDA except that EBITDA is reduced for corporate general
and administrative expenses; and (ii) both NOI and EBITDA are unaffected by the capital structure of the property
owner. .
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Funds frocm Operations and EBITDA (i) do not represent cash flow from operations as defined by
generally accepted accounting principles, (ii) are not necessarily indicative of cash available to fund all cash flow
needs and (iii) should not be considered as an alternative to net income for purposes of evaluating the Company's
operating performance.

Other data that management believes is important in understanding trends in its business and
properties are also included in the following table.
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Item 6. Selected Financial Data (continued)

Operating Data:
Total revenues
Operating costs:
Property operating costs
Depreciation and amortization
General and administrative expenses
Restructuring costs
Operating income before interest
Interest
Gain on sale of property
Income before minority interest and
extraordinary items
Minority interest in Operating Partnership
Cumulative effect of change in accounting method
Extraordinary 1oss on early extinguishment of debt
Net income (loss)
Dividends on preferred shares
Net (loss) applicable to common shares
Per share data (after minority interest): (1)
Basic EPS:
Loss before extraordinary items
Cumulative effect of change in accounting method
Extraordinary items
Net (loss)
Diluted EPS:
Loss before extraordinary items
Cumulative effect of change in accounting method
Extraordinary items
Net (loss)

Other Data:
EBITDA (2 & 4)
Funds from Operations (FFO): (3, 4, & 5)
Net income (loss)
Adjustments:
Minority interest in Operating Partnership
Less gain (loss) on asset sales other than outparcels
Depreciation and amortization
Depreciation in JV and other line items
Operating covenant amortization
Cash flow support earned (11)
Cumulative effect of change in accounting method
Extraordinary loss on early extinguishment of debt
Funds from Operations before allocations to
preferred shares and minority interest
Less:
Amounts allocable to preferred shares
Amounts allocable to minority interest
Funds from Operations applicable to
common shares
Weighted average common shares outstanding - basic
Weighted average common shares outstanding - diluted
Weighted average common shares and Operating
Partnership units outstanding - basic
Weighted average common shares and Operating
Partnership units outstanding - diluted
Cash Flows:
Net cash provided by operating activities
Net cash (used in) investing activities
Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities

(1), (2), (3), (4), (5), (10), (11) - See page 18 for explanation.

Year Ended December 31,
2001 2000 1999 1998 1997
(10 (5, (10) (5), (10) (5), (10
(in thousands, except per share data)

$ 184,886 § 181,348 $ 169,217 $§ 157,440 $ 140,697
65,763 64,810 61,054 59,242 53,482
48,885 47,754 44,306 41,712 38,311
5,456 5,167 4,751 5,066 4,698

-~ 369 2,251 - -

64,782 63,248 56,855 51,420 44,206
(55,014) (57,062) (51,075) (45,417) (42,663)

437 700 1,761 1,210 1,051

10,205 6,886 7,541 7,213 2,594
(4,999) (664) 1,734 8,363 1,644

- - - (1,703) -
- (243) - (22,512) (2,331)

5,206 5,979 9,275 (8,639) 1,907
(13,613) (13,695) (13,750) (13,750) (6,646)
$__(B407)S_ (1716) 8 _(4475) 8 _ (22,389) §___ (4,739)
3 0.32) § (0.28) § 0.17) $ 0.18) § 0.11)

- - - (0.05) -
- (0.01) - (0.62) (0.06)
$ 032)$ (0.29) $ 0.17) $ (0.85) § (0.17)
$ 032) 3 0.28) § 017 % (0.18) $ 0.11)

- - - (0.05) -
— (0.01) — (0.62) (0.06)
$ 0.32) $ 0.29) $ 0.17) 8 0.85) § (0.17)
$ 116,731 § 117,080 $ 108,288 § 98,499 % 88,028
3 5,206 $ 5979 § 9,275 § (8,639) § 1,907
4,999 664 (1,734) (8,363) (1,644)

- 224 (1,290) - -

48,885 47,754 44,306 41,712 38,311
1,740 1,673 1,619 1,280 1,371

- 2,623 2,630 2,630 2,630

3,067 2,902 2,973 3,784 3,733

- - - 1,703 -

- 243 — 22,512 2,331

63,897 62,062 57,779 56,619 48,639
13,613 13,695 13,750 13,750 6,646
13,722 13,316 12,121 11,653 10,810

$ 36,562 $ 35051 $ 31,908 § 31,216 $ 31,183
26,208 26,208 26,208 26,393 27,228
26,208 26,208 26,208 26,393 27,228
36,164 36,164 36,164 36,317 36,667
36,164 36,164 36,164 36,317 36,667

$ 68,389 § 58,286 §$ 56,939 §$ 56,984 § 38,976
(22,479) (30,625) (49,683) (104,725) (71,012)
(43,524) (30,219) (3,597) 51,781 34,059
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Item 6.

December 31,

Balance Sheet Data: 2001 2000 1999 1998 1997
Income-producing properties (before accumulated
depreciation and amortization) $ 1,228,800 § 1,215,879 3 1,184,696 § 1,134,349 § 1,024,641
Total assets 826,780 855,501 875,208 869,288 785,949
Total debt and liabilities 761,657 758,929 746,630 708,047 570,845
Minority interest (debit) credit (3,303) (3,050) 2,727 11,724 25,334
Shareholders' equity 65,123 96,572 125,851 149,517 189,770

Portfolio Property Data (6):

Number of retail properties at end of year 27 27 28 28 26
Total GLA at end of year (000 sq. ft.) (7) 16,350 16,265 16,378 15,948 14,999
Mall shop GLA at end of year (000 sq. ft.) 5,672 5,648 5,779 5,734 5,539
Comparable store mall shop tenant sales per square foot (8) ) 268 % 265 % 258 $ 242§ 228
Mall shop occupancy percentage at year end (9) 87% 86% 84% 82% 79%

(1)  All per share data are based on the weighted average common shares outstanding shown for the respective periods.

(2) EBITDA represents earnings before interest, all depreciation and amortization, and unusual items. The derivation of EBITDA is shown
in Item 7 (c) herein. As a REIT, the Company is generally not subject to federal or state income taxes.

(3) Funds from Operations represents net income before minority interest, real estate depreciation and amortization,
plus earned cash flow support and adjusted for extraordinary and certain non-recurring items.

(4) EBITDA and Funds from Operations (i) do not represent cash flow from operations as defined by generally accepted accounting
principles, (ii) are not necessarily indicative of cash available to fund all cash flow needs and (iii) should not be considered as an
alternative to net income for purposes of evaluating the Company's operating performance.

(5) Beginning in 2000, the Company adopted a revised definition of FFO as promulgated by NAREIT. FFO for 1999 and prior periods has
been restated.

(6) The above data reflects the impact of the Valley Mall acquisition completed in November 1997, the acquisition of
Crossroads and Jacksonville Malls and Greater Lewistown Plaza in May 1998, the sale of Middletown Mall in July 1998, and the
sale of Greater Lewistown Plaza in June 2000. See Notes 13 and 14 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

(7) Total GLA includes anchor stores (company-owned and tenant-owned), mall shops, and freestanding space.

(8) Total sales for all mall shop tenants, excluding freestanding space, movie theaters, and supermarkets, amounted to $1,050 million,
$1,048 million, $1,010 million, $909 million, and $721 million for 2001 to 1997, respectively. Sales reported for 2001 to 1997 for all
owned anchor stores were $ 1,237 million, $1,234 million, $1,286 million, $1,249 million, and $1,132 million, respectively. The
Company owns 94 of 106 anchor store premises as of December 31, 2001.

(9) Includes both tenants in occupancy and tenants that have signed leases but have not yet taken occupancy as of the dates indicated.

(10) Certain reclassifications have been made to prior year amounts to conform to the current year presentation.

(11) The cash flow support agreement is with a related party, as discussed in more detail in Note 8 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Ttem 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following discussion should be read in conjunction with the Selected Financial Data in Item 6
and the Consolidated Financial Statements and Notes thereto in Item 8 in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. The
Note references in this item can be found on pages 35 to 52. Historical results set forth in the Selected Financial
Data and the Consolidated Financial Statements of Crown American Realty Trust (the “Company”) are not
necessarily indicative of future financial position and results of operations of the Company.

(a) General Background and Performance Measurement
Organization

Crown American Realty Trust (the "Company™) was formed in 1993 to acquire interests in 23
enclosed shopping malls and certain other real estate (collectively the “Properties”) then owned by Crown American
Corporation, a wholly—owned subsidiary of Crown Holding Company ("Crown Holding”). The Company is a real
estate investment trust under the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended. On August 17, 1993 the Company
completed its initial public offering and raised net proceeds of approximately $405 million in equity from issuing
approximately 25.5 million shares, including the subsequent exercise of the underwriters' over—allotment option.
The Company used the proceeds to purchase an initial 78% general partnership interest in Crown American
Properties, L.P. (the "Operating Partnership"), a partnership which was formed just prior to consummation of the
offering referred to above. The current 27.53% minority limited common partnership interests are held by Crown
Investments Trust and by Crown American Investment Company, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Crown Investments
Trust, both of which are wholly-owned subsidiaries of Crown Holding. The funds raised in the initial public
offering were used by the Operating Partnership to retire debt related to the Properties. As described in Note 6 to
the Consolidated Financial Statements, the Company also holds 100% of the preferred partnership interests in the
Operating Partnership that arose in connection with the Company’s issuance of preferred shares in July 1997.

Simultaneous with the initial public offering, Crown American Associates, successor to Crown
American Corporation, and an affiliate transferred the Properties and the management operations into either the
Company, the Operating Partnership, or Crown American Financing Partnership (the "Financing Partnership"), a
partnership owned 99.5% by the Operating Partnership and 0.5% by the Company. As a result of these transactions,
the Company is engaged primarily in the ownership, operation, management, leasing, acquisition, expansion,
development and financing of shopping malls. In addition, simultaneous with the above transaction, the Financing
Partnership borrowed $300 million of mortgage debt initially secured by 15 properties. The $300 million was used
to getire existing debt related to the Properties. As described in Note 5 to the Consolidated Financial Statements, in
August 1998 the remaining balance of the $300 million of mortgage debt was refinanced in its entirety.

The properties held by the Company at December 31, 2001 consist of: (i) 26 wholly-owned
enclosed shopping malls (together with adjoining outparcels and approximately 64 acres of undeveloped land)
located in Pennsylvania, New Jersey, Maryland, Tennessee, North Carolina, West Virginia, Virginia and Georgia,
(ii) a 50% general partnership interest in Palmer Park Mall Venture, which owns Palmer Park Mall located in
Easton, Pennsylvania, (iii) Pasquerilla Plaza, an office building in Johnstown, Pennsylvania, which serves as the
headquarters of the Company and is partially leased to other parties, and (iv) a parcel of land (under ground lease
with purchase option) improved with a building leased to a department store chain.

(b) Funds from Operations
Year ended December 31, 2001 versus year ended December 31, 2000

The total FFO for 2001 (before allocations to minority interest and to preferred shareholders) was
$63.9 million compared to $62.1 million in 2000, a 3.0% increase. FFO allocable to common shares increased from
$35.1 million in 2000 to $36.6 million in 2001, an improvement of $1.5 million. Average common shares
outstanding during both 2001 and 2000 were approximately 26,208,000. The number of properties were the same
for both years, except for Greater Lewistown Shopping Plaza, a non-enclosed shopping center, which was sold in
June 2000.

The increase in FFO of $1.8 million before allocations to minority interest and to preferred
dividends versus 2000 was due primarily to the following: (i) a net $1.0 million increase in mall shop and anchor
base and percentage rents, consisting of a $2.2 million increase in mall shop base rents due to a slightly higher
occupancy and higher average rents; a $0.2 million decrease in anchor base rents; and a $1.0 million decrease in
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mall shop and anchor percentage rents due to lower sales volume; (ii) $1.2 million in higher lease buyout income
due to lease termination fees received from numerous tenants; (iii) $0.7 million in higher straight-line rents; (iv)
$2.0 million in lower interest expense, primarily as a result of lower LIBOR rates on floating-rate debt; (v) $0.3
million in higher temporary and seasonal leasing income; (vi) $0.2 million in higher cash flow support payments;
and (vii) $0.1 million in higher net construction income and miscellaneous mall income. These positive variances
were partially offset by (viii) $2.8 million in higher property operating costs, net of tenant reimbursements
comprised of $2.2 million in higher property operating costs including $0.3 million of accrued environmental
remediation costs, and a slightly lower rate of cost recovery from tenants; (ix) $0.5 million in lower gain on the sale
of outparcel land; (x) $0.3 million in lower fees on the sale of non-REIT assets; and (xi) $0.1 million in higher
general and administrative expenses, offset by $0.4 million in restructuring costs that occurred in 2000.

Year ended December 31, 2000 versus year ended December 31, 1999

Total year 2000 FFO (before allocations to minority interest and to preferred shareholders) was
$62.1 million compared to $57.8 million in 1999, a 7.4% increase. 1999’s FFO has been restated, as required under
NAREIT’s (National Association of Real Estate Investment Trusts) revised definition of FFO, to reflect the impact
of one-time restructuring costs. This restatement impacted 1999’s FFO by $2.3 million. FFQO allocable to common
shares for the year ended December 31, 2000 was $35.0 million, a 9.8% increase over $31.9 million reported in
1999. Average common shares outstanding during both 2000 and 1999 were 26,208,000. The number of properties
were the same for both years, except for the Greater Lewistown Shopping Piaza, a non-enclosed strip shopping
center, which was sold in June 2000.

The increase in FFO before allocations to minority interest and to preferred dividends compared to
1999 was due primarily to the following: (i) a $7.9 million increase in mall shop and anchor base and percentage
rents, as a result of higher occupancy levels, higher average rental rates, and higher mall shop sales, (i) $0.2 million
in higher temporary and seasonal leasing income, (iii) $0.8 million in higher net utility and miscellaneous mall
income, (iv) $0.5 million in higher gain on the sale of outparcel land, (v) $0.8 million in higher net construction and
fee income, (vi) $0.2 million in higher lease buyout income, and (vii) lower restructuring costs, net of other G & A
increases, of $1.3 million. These positive variances were partially offset by (viii) $6.0 million in higher interest
costs due to higher interest rates, higher deferred financing cost amortization, lower interest capitalized, and higher
average borrowings outstanding, (ix) $0.7 million in higher property operating costs, net of recoveries, and (x) $0.7
million in lower straight-line rental income.

) EBITDA — Earnings before Interest, Taxes, Depreciation and Amortization
The computation of EBITDA is shown below for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000, and
19596 ($000):
Year Ended December 31,
2001 2000 1999
Net income $ 5,206 $ 5,979 $ 9,275
Minority interest in Cperating Partnership 4,999 664 (1,734)
Income before minority interest 10,205 6,643 7,541
Gain (loss) on sale of depreciable assets - 224 (1,290)
Interest 55,014 57,062 51,075
Depreciation and amortization 48,885 47,754 44,306
Restructuring costs - 369 2,251
Extraordinary items - 243 -
Operating covenant amortization included
as a reduction of minimum rent - 2,623 2,630
Depreciation in G & A, in recoverable costs 1,430 1,318 1,424
Interest on 50% joint venture 655 329 -
Depreciation on 50% joint venture 542 515 351
Total EBITDA, as reported $116,731 $117,080  $108,288
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Year ended December 31, 2001 versus year ended December 31, 2000

Total EBITDA for the year ended December 31, 2001 was $116.7 million, a slight decrease from
2000's reported EBITDA of $117.1 million. This decrease was primarily the result of higher property operating
costs, net of recoveries, and lower gain on outparcel sales, offset by higher mall shop base rents, higher lease buyout
income, higher temporary and seasonal rents, and higher straight-line rents.

Year ended December 31, 2000 versus year ended December 31, 1999

Total EBITDA for the year ended December 31, 2000 was $117.1 million, an increase of $8.8
million, or 8.1%, over 1999’s EBITDA of $108.3 million. This increase was primarily due to higher rents and
higher occupancy in the existing portfolio, partially offset by higher property operating costs.

@) Property Operating Results and Trends
Aggregate Tenant Sales YVolume

Cver the long term, the level of anchor and mall shop tenant sales is the single most important
determinant of revenues of the Company as anchor and mall shop tenants provide over 90% of total revenues and
because tenant sales determine the amount of rent, percentage rent and recoverable expenses (together, total
occupancy costs) that tenants can afford to pay. However, levels of tenant sales are considerably more volatile in
the short run than total occupancy costs.

Total reported sales for all tenants that reported sales for the applicable years are shown below
($ in millions):

001 200 199
Anchors {owned locations) $1,237 $1,234 $ 1,286
Mall shop tenants, excluding
Freestanding, theater, and
Supermarkets 1,050 1,048 1,010

The above data excludes sales from all seasonal and temporary tenants who generally do not report
their sales to the Company. The Company owned 94 of 106 anchor store locations at December 31, 2001.

In a period of increasing sales, rents on new leases will tend to rise as tenants' expectations of
future growth become more optimistic. In periods of declining sales, rents on new leases tend to grow more slowly.
However, revenues generally increase as older leases roll over or are terminated early and replaced with new leases
negotiated at current rental rates that are usually higher than the average rates for existing leases.

Average base rents per square foot for mall shop tenants at quarter end for the last three years are
shown in the following table. The increase in average base rent during these three years results primarily from
renewing existing leases at higher base rents, from leasing vacant space at higher base rents, and from elimination of
lower paying tenants that closed during these periods.

2001 2000 1999
March 31 $ 19.57 $ 18.82 $17.95
June 30 19.60 19.01 18.07
September 30 18.76 19.25 18.34
December 31 19.78 19.44 18.63

Comparable Mall Store Sales and O¢cupancy Cost

Management believes that over long periods of time the ability of tenants to pay occupancy costs
and earn profits increases as sales per square foot increase, whether through inflation or real growth in customer
spending. Occupancy costs are comprised of base fixed rents, percentage rents, and expense recoveries - pro rata
share of real estate taxes and common area maintenance and other costs pertaining to the property. Because most
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mall shop tenants have certain fixed expenses, the occupancy costs that they can afford to pay and still be profitable
is a higher percentage of sales at higher sales per square foot. While such increased occupancy costs as a percentage
of sales cannot grow indefinitely for any one tenant, management believes that it is possible to increase the
percentage paid by all tenants as a group by aggressively working to replace under-performing tenants with better
performing ones.

Comparable mall store sales per square foot in each reporting period is based on sales reported by
mall store tenants (excludes anchors and certain other large space users) that occupied space in both the current and
immediately preceding reporting period. Comparable mall store sales per square foot for the last three years are set
out below. Also shown below is the percentage of mall shop tenants’ occupancy costs as a percentage of their
annual sales.

2001 2000 1999
Comparable mall store sales per square foot $268 $265 $258
Occupancy cost percentage at period end 10.1% 10.2% 10.1%

Seasonality and Occupancy

The enclosed shopping mall industry is seasonal in nature, with anchor and mall shop tenant sales
highest in the fourth quarter due to the Christmas season, and with lesser, though still significant, sales fluctuations
associated with the Easter holiday and back-to—school events. While minimum rents and expense recoveries are
generally not subject to seasonal factors, many leases are scheduled to expire in the first calendar quarter, and the
majority of new stores open in the second half of the year in anticipation of the Christmas selling season.
Accordingly, revenues and occupancy levels are generally lowest in the first quarter and highest in the fourth
quarter.

The aggregate mall shop occupancy percentage, defined as the ratio of total mall shop space that
is leased (including both tenants occupying space and tenants that have signed leases but have not yet taken
occupancy) to the total mall shop space gross leasable area (“GLA”) at quarter-end for the last three years is set out
below.

2001 2000 1999
March 31 85% 84% 82%
June 30 84% 85% 82%
September 30 85% 85% 83%
December 31 87% 86% 84%

At December 31, 2001, anchor occupancy was 99.1% and total portfolio occupancy (anchors,
mall stores and freestanding) was 94.1%.

) Results of Operations
Year ended December 31, 2001 versus year ended December 31, 2000
Revenues

Components of minimum rents and percentage rents for the years ended December 31, 2001,
2000, and 1999 are as follows ($000):
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Year Ended December 31,

2001 2000 1999
Components of Minimum Rents:
Anchors - base rents $ 24,590 $ 24,820 $ 24,307
Mall shops & freestanding - base rents 82,221 80,886 74,660
Mall shops & freestanding - percentage rent in
lieu of fixed base rent 3,133 2,612 2,489
Straight line rental income 774 89 745
Ground leases - base rents 2,343 1,977 2,057
Lease buyout income 1,736 538 350
Operating covenant amortization - (2,623) (2,630)
Total minimum rents $114,797 $108,299 $101,978
Components of Percentage (Overage) Rents:
Anchors $2,858 $3,356 $3,352
Mall shops, freestanding, and ground leases 4,349 4,868 3,725
Total Percentage (Overage) Rents $7,207 $8,224 $7,077

Total revenues in 2001 were $184.9 million, an increase of $3.6 million, or 2.0%, over 2000's
revenues of $181.3 million. Revenues in prior years have been reclassified to be consistent with the current year
presentation. This reclassification is the result of reflecting utility redistribution income on a gross basis. Revenues
were increased by $10.8 million, $11.0 million, and $11.3 million in 2001, 2000, and 1999, respectively, due to this
classification.

The primary reasons for the revenue growth of $3.6 million in 2001 were higher base rents from
mall shops, higher temporary and seasonal leasing, higher lease termination fees, and higher straight-line rents.
These positive impacts on revenues were partially offset by lower percentage rents, lower base rents from anchor
tenants, and lower construction income.

Property Operating Costs

Property operating and administrative costs, including utility redistribution costs, but excluding
depreciation and amortization, increased from $64.8 million in 2000 to $65.8 million in 2001, or 1.5%. The year
2000 contained $1.2 million of expense related to construction costs incurred for an anchor tenant. Most of the
increased expense in 2001 was attributable to higher operating costs, including higher environmental expense,
higher maintenance costs, and higher security expense.

Depreciation and Amortization

Depreciation and amortization expense increased by $1.1 million in 2001, primarily as a result of
higher amortization of tenant improvement costs.

General and Administrative

General and administrative expenses, net of capitalized amounts, increased by $0.3 million in
2001 compared to 2000. Gross spending was $0.5 less than in 2000 due to the continuation of the Company's cost
containment efforts. This reduction in gross spending, however, was offset by lower capitalization of construction
department costs due to a lower volume of construction expenditures.

Interest Expense, Net
Interest expense (net of capitalized amounts and interest income) for 2001 was $55.0 million, a
decrease of $2.0 million compared to 2000. Most of this decrease was attributable to: (i) numerous decreases

throughout 2001 in LIBOR rates, impacting interest expense on all variable-rated debt; and (ii) lower amortization
of deferred financing costs.
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Gain on Sale of Qutparcel Land

The gain on sale of outparcel land was $0.4 million in 2001 compared to $0.9 million in 2000.
This decrease was directly the result of fewer outparcel sales in 2001.

Year ended December 31, 2000 versus year ended December 31, 1999

Total revenues were $181.3 million in 2000, an increase of $12.1 million, or 7.2%, over 1999’s
revenues of $169.2 million. Revenues increased in 2000 primarily due to higher base and percentage rents due to
higher occupancy, higher average rents, and higher mall shop sales. In addition, year 2000 revenues include $1.7
million in construction income related to an anchor tenant.

Property operating and administrative costs, excluding depreciation and amortization, increased
$4.1 million in 2000, an 8.2% increase over 1999. Cf this increase, $1.2 million related to construction expense
incurred for an anchor tenant. Most of the remaining increase was attributable to higher operating costs at the
properties, including maintenance costs, insurance, security, food court, and property administrative expenses.

Depreciation and amortization expense increased by $3.4 million in 2000, primarily due to a full
year’s depreciation and amortization expense on the Valley Mall and Washington Crown Center redevelopments
which were substantially completed in late 1999.

General and administrative expenses; net of capitalized amounts, increased by $0.4 million in
2000 compared to 1999. Gross spending was $1.4 million lower in 2000 due to savings from the 2000 and 1999
restructurings. This reduction was largely offset by lower capitalization of construction overhead because most
construction projects were completed.

During the first quarter of 2000, the Company recorded a restructuring charge of $0.4 million
related to severance and related costs for employees affected by an 8% reduction in the corporate office staff
together with reductions in other corporate expenses. The restructuring involved approximately twelve home office
employees, representing a cross-section of management and clerical employees. During the first and third quarters
of 1999, the Company recorded restructuring charges of $1.0 million and $1.2 million, respectively, related to
severance and related costs for employees affected by two reductions in the number of corporate office staff
together with reductions in other corporate office-related expenses. The restructurings involved approximately
thirty-five home office employees, representing a cross-section of management, clerical, and secretarial employees.
The restructuring costs are shown as a separate line item in the Consolidated Statements of Operations.
Approximately $0.8 miilion was paid out during 2000 related to the three restructuring programs outlined above.
Approximately $0.2 million of liability remains at December 31, 2000 and is included in “Accounts payable and
other liabilities” in the Consolidated Balance Sheet. It is expected that the majority of this liability will be paid in
2001.

Interest expense (net of capitalized amounts and interest income) for 2000 was $57.1 million, a
$6.0 million increase over 1999. This increase was due to a variety of factors, including higher average borrowings
outstanding ($3.1 million), higher interest rates ($1.0 million), higher financing cost amortization ($0.6 million),
and lower interest capitalization and lower interest income ($1.3 million).

Gain on sale of outparcel land was $0.9 million in 2000, $0.5 million higher than 1999,
Statement on Accounting Policies

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial
statements and the reported zmounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could
differ from those estimates.

Some of these estimates and assumptions include judgments on revenue recognition, estimates for
common area maintenance and real estate tax accruals, provisions for uncollectable accounts and for losses under
the Company's self-insurance program, and the treatment of certain costs as capital or expense. The Company's
significant accounting policies are described in more detail in Note 2 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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New Accounting Pronouncememnts

In July 2001, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued Statements of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 141, Business Combinations ("SFAS 141") and No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible
Assets ("SFAS 142"). SFAS 141 requires all business combinations initiated after June 30, 2001 to be accounted
for using the purchase method. Under SFAS 142, goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite lives are no longer
amortized but are reviewed annually (or more frequently if impairment indicators arise) for impairment. Separable
intangible assets that are not deemed tc have indefinite lives will continue to be amortized over their useful lives
(but with no maximum life). The amortization provisions of SFAS 142 apply to goodwill and intangible assets
acquired after June 30, 2001. With respect to goodwill and intangible assets acquired prior to July 1, 2001, the
Company is required to adopt SFAS 142 effective January 1, 2002. The implementation of SFAS 142 is not
expected to have a material effect on the Company's results of operations or financial position.

In June 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 143, "Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations"
("SFAS 143") whose provisions discuss the financial accounting and reporting for obligations associated with the
retirement of tangible long-lived assets and the associated asset retirement costs. It applies to legal obligations
associated with the retirement of long-lived assets that result from the acquisition, construction, development and/or
the normal operation of a long-lived asset. The implementation of SFAS 143 which is effective January 1, 2003, is
not expected to have a material effect on the Company's results of operations or financial position.

In August 2001, the FASB issued Statements of Financial Accounting Standards ("SFAS") No.
144, "Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets" ("SFAS 144") which supersedes SFAS No.
121, "Accounting for the Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and for Long-Lived Assets to be Disposed of" ("SFAS
121") and the accounting and reporting provisions of APB No. 30, "Reporting the Results of Operations --
Reporting the Effects of Disposal of a Segment of a Business, and Extraordinary, Unusual and Infrequently
Occurring Events and Transactions” for the disposal of a segment of a business. SFAS 144 retains many of the
fundamental provisions of SFAS 121, but resolves certain implementation issues associated with that Statement.
The Company has early adopted the provisions of SFAS 144 during the third quarter of fiscal 2001 and its
implementation did not have a material effect on the Company's results of operations or financial position.

Accounting for Minority Imterest

Minority interest represents the common partnership units in the Operating Partnership that are
owned by Crown Investments and its subsidiary. At December 31, 2001 Crown Investments and its subsidiary
owned 9,956,398 common partnership units, or 27.53% of the total common partnership units outstanding. Crown
American Realty Trust cwns the remaining 72.47%. The minority interest balance is adjusted each year for Crown
Investments’ and its subsidiary’s proportionate share of net income (loss) of the Operating Partnership (after
deducting preferred unit distributions), common partnership distributions, and additional capital contributions.
Primarily because the common partnership distributions have been larger than the Operating Partnership’s income
(loss) after preferred unit distributions, the minority interest account on the consolidated balance sheets has been
declining each year. The balance was reduced below zero in the second quarter of 2000. Under generally accepted
accounting principles, when the minority partner’s share of the Operating Partnership’s net income (loss) and the
minority partner’s cash distributions and capital contributions, would cause the minority interest balance to be less
than zero, such balance must be reported at zerc unless there is a legal obligation of the minority partner to
reimburse the Operating Partnership for such excess amounts. The Cash Flow Support Agreement does provide for
such obligation by the minority partner in the form of cash flow support payments on four (now three) of the
Company’s malls that were in the lease-up phase at the time of the Company’s IPO in 1993. Accordingly, since the
minority interest account is reduced below zero, and there is a legal obligation of the minority partner to make
additional cash contributions to the Operating Partnership, the minerity interest balance at December 31, 2001 is
shown on the Consolidated Balance Sheet as an asset. This asset balance at December 31, 2001 has been limited to
$3.3 million, the estimated amount of cash flow support to be received over the next twelve months. An additional
amount of $6.0 million, representing the excess losses and distributions over and above the cash flow support, has
been absorbed by the Company in its share of loss from the Operating Partnership for the calendar year ended
December 31, 2001. Cn a cumulative basis, $8.6 million of such losses have been absorbed by the Company,
through and including December 31, 2001.
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i) Cash Flows, Liguidity and Capital Resources

For the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000, and 1999, the Company generated $68.4 million,
$58.3 million, and $56.9 million, respectively, in cash from operating activities, as shown in the accompanying
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows in Item 8 hereto.

2001 Cash Flows

During 2001, the Company generated $68.4 million in cash flows fiom operating activities, which
includes a positive impact of $6.4 million from changes in receivables, restricted cash and escrow deposits, deferred
charges and other assets, and accounts payable and other liabilities. The Company invested $23.4 million in its
existing properties in 2001 which included $10.4 million in tenant allowances, $3.3 million in the expansion of
Phillipsburg Mall to accommodate an H & M store, and $9.7 million in various other operational capital
expenditures. The Company used $43.5 million in its financing activities, which inciuded (i) additional borrowings
of $16.8 million, net of escrow deposits and issuance costs; {ii) $19.5 million of loan amortization and debt
repayments; (iii) $43.9 million of common and preferred dividends; and (iv) $3.1 million of cash flow support (see
Note 8 to the Consolidated Financial Statements).

2000 Cash Flows

During 2000, the Company generated $58.3 million in cash flows from operating activities, which
is net of an aggregate $3.0 million negative impact from changes in receivables, restricted cash and escrow deposits,
deferred charges and other assets, and accounts payable and other liabilities. The Company invested $46.1 million
in its existing properties in 2000 which included $13.0 million in the Valley Mall redevelopment project, $9.3
million in the expansion/renovation of Washington Crown Center, and $12.9 million in mall shop tenant
allowances. The Company received $8.9 million in net proceeds from the sale of the Greater Lewistown Shopping
Plaza and from the sale of an anchor store to its owner-occupant. The Company used a net $30.2 million in its
financing activities, which included (i) additional borrowings of $26.1 million, net of debt issuance costs, (ii) $14.7
million of loan amortization and debt repayments, (iii) $43.6 million of common and preferred dividends, (iv) $2.9
million of Cash Flow Support (see Note 8 to the Consolidated Financial Statements), and (v) $0.9 million of
preferred stock buybacks.

1999 Cash Flows

During 1999, the Company generated $56.9 million in cash flows from operating activities, which
is net of an aggregate $1.4 million negative impact from changes in receivables, restricted cash and escrow deposits,
deferred charges and other assets, and accounts payable and other liabilities. The Company invested $53.2 million
in its existing properties in 1999 which included $16.2 million in the Valley Mall redevelopment project, $12.3
million in the expansion/renovation of Washington Crown Center, and $13.9 million in mall shop tenant
allowances. The Company received $3.4 million in cash from a note receivable in connection with the sale of
Middletown Mall in 1998. The Company used a net $3.6 million in its financing activities, which included (i)
additional borrowings of $29.2 million under its modified line of credit facility much of which was used for the
Valley Mall expansion project (see Note 5 to the Consolidated Financial Statements), (i) $12.7 million in
borrowings under its construction Joan for Washington Crown Center, (iii) $5.2 miilion in debt amortization and
debt issuance costs, (iv) $43.2 million paid in common and preferred dividends, and (v) $3.0 million received in
Cash Flow Support.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

The Company has significant ongoing capital requirements. The Company believes that its cash
generated from property operations and funds obtained from its lines of credit, property financings and general
corporate borrowings will provide the necessary funds on a short-term and long-term basis for its operating
expenses, debt service on cutstanding indebtedness and recurring capital expenditures and tenant allowances, and
dividends to the shareholders at a level necessary to satisfy the REIT dividend distribution requirements under the
Internal Revenue Code (see Note 2 to the Consolidated Financial Statements). The amount of dividends required to
be paid in order to maintain REIT status for 2001 was $15.9 million. This is significantly less than the total $43.9
million in dividends paid on preferred and common shares in 2001. The Company intends to pay regular quarterly
dividends to its shareholders. However, the Company’s ability to pay dividends is affected by several factors,
including cash flow from operations, capital expenditures, and its ability to refinance its maturing debt as described
below. Dividends by the Company will be at the discretion of the Board of Trustees and will depend on the cash
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available to the Company, its financial condition, capital and other requirements, and such other factors as the
Trustees may consider.

As described in Note 5 to the Consolidated Financial Statements, the borrowing capacity under the
Company’s line of credit with GE Capital Corporation is increased or decreased based on the level of underwritten
net operating income, as defined, for the six malls that are mortgaged to secure the line of credit. Underwritten net
operating income is calculated quarterly, and the borrowing capacity adjusted up or down accordingly.
Underwritten net operating income can increase or increase depending on the performance of the six malls, and is
also reduced for any anchor tenant that declares bankruptcy, even if the tenant continues to operate its store and pay
rent. At December 31, 2001 the borrowing capacity was approximately $152.3 million and will be reduced in the
first quarter of 2002 by about $3.0 million due to the bankruptcy filing of Kmart in January (there is one Kmart
anchor store in the six malls). Management does not believe this Kmart store will be closed due to the relatively
strong level of sales generated by this store. As also described in Note 5, twenty malls are owned by or ground
leased to special purpese consolidated subsidiaries, as required under various loan agreements. The mortgaged
malls and related assets owned or ground leased by these special purpose consolidated subsidiaries are restricted
under the loan agreements for the debt service and others payments under the related mortgage loans and are not
available to pay other debts of the consolidated Company. However, so long as the loans are not under an event of
default, as defined in the loan agreements, the cash flows from these properties, after debt service and reserve
payments are made, are available for the general use of the Company.

Several of the company’s loans and its lines of credit contain financial covenants; the failure to
observe such covenants would constitute events of default under the loans and if not cured by the Company would
give the lenders additional rights, including to receive all cash flows from the properties or to require the loan(s) to
be repaid immediately. The Company was in compliance with all loan covenants as of and during the year ended
December 31, 2001 and through the date hereof except for requirements under the GECC Mortgage Loan, the
GECC line of credit and the loan on Capital City Mall that closed on January 3, 2002 to have insurance policies in
place with insurance companies that have certain minimum credit ratings, as defined in the agreement. Two of the
major insurance companies used by the Company had been down-graded below required levels by certain rating
agencies; subsequent to year end, the lenders approved the continued use of these insurance companies, provided no
further rating downgrades occur. If such downgrades were to occur and not be waived by the lenders, the Company
will be required to replace its coverage with other insurance companies that satisfy the loan credit requirements.
While management believes that it will be able to do so, if required, there is no assurance it can do so, because
future conditions may prevent the company from securing such insurance. In addition, the premiums paid may
increase significantly from those paid under current insurance policies.

!

Sources of capital for non-recurring capital expenditures, such as major building renovations and
expansions, acquisitions, and for balloon payments on maturing outstanding indebtedness, are expected to be
obtained from additional Company or property financings and refinancings, sale of non-strategic assets, additional
equity raised in the public or private markets, and from retained internally generated cash flows, or from
combinations thereof. Given the Company’s current level of indebtedness, and given the uncertainties concerning
future equity and debt capital markets and interest rates, there is no assurance that the Company will be able to
secure such future infusions of equity and/or debt financing and refinancings when needed, or at rates or terms that
will permit the Company to use the proceeds raised to increase earnings or Funds from Operations. There are no
major expansions or renovations planned to occur in 2002.

In October 2001, the Company executed a three year extension to July 2005 of a $16.0 million
mortgage loan that was scheduled to mature in mid-2002. The interest rate on the mortgage loan will change in July
2002 from a fixed rate of 7.66% to a floating rate of LIBOR plus 2.00%; annual debt service will be reduced from
current levels at this time as well.

On January 3, 2002 the Company closed a $53.3 million loan with a lender secured by its Capital City
Mall in Harrisburg, PA with only limited recourse to the Company. The loan bears interest at a stated annual fixed
rate of approximately 7.6%, and is interest-only during the first two years, and then amortizes during the last eight
years based on a 28-year amortization schedule. Of the total proceeds from the new loan, $42.5 million was used to
prepay an existing 8.27% mortgage loan on Capital City Mall, which included a $4.1 million yield maintenance
prepayment penalty. This prepayment penalty, together with $0.2 million of unamortized deferred financing costs,
will be recorded as an extraordinary loss (non-FFQ) in January 2002. The remaining proceeds were used for loan
closing costs and various loan reserves aggregating $1.7 million, with the balance of $5.1 million of net proceeds
available for general corporate purposes for the Company.
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As of December 31, 2001, the scheduled principal payments on all outstanding debt are $19.3
million, $10.1 million, $192.1 million, $21.3 million, and $10.4 million for the years ended December 31, 2002
through 2006, respectively, and $467.5 million thereafter. The Company expects to refinance or extend the
majority of the maturities over the next five years through additional Company financings and from refinancing the
maturing loans. The Company’s ability to refinance or extend these loans on or before their due dates depends on
the ievel of income generated by the properties, prevailing interest rates, credit market trends, and other factors that
may be in effect at the time of such refinancings or extensions and there is no assurance that such refinancings or
extensions will be executed. The ratios of the Company’s EBITDA to interest paid on total indebtedness (exclusive
of capitalized interest and interest income) for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000, and 1999 were 2.09 to 1,
2.07 to 1, and 2.06 to 1, respectively.

As further described in Note 8 to the Consolidated Financial Statements, Crown Investments and
its subsidiary have been granted rights, subject to certain restrictions, whereby they may redeem part or all of their
common partnership units for common shares, on a one-to-one basis, or cash at a price equal to the value of the
Company’s common shares. Crown Investments has pledged substantially all of its limited partnership units as
collateral for a loan it has received from an unrelated third party.

® Economic Trends

Because inflation has remained relatively low during the last three years it has had little impact on
the operations of the Company during this period. Tenant leases also provide, in part, a mechanism to help protect
the Company during highly inflationary periods. As operating costs increase, most leases permit a pass—through of
the common area maintenance and other operating costs, including real estate taxes and insurance, to the tenants and
therefore, the tenants will absorb part of this increased operating cost. Most of the leases provide for percentage
rent after a certain minimum sales Ievel is achieved. Thus, during highly inflationary periods, when retail sales at
the Malls increase, the Company should receive additional rental income through percentage rent increases, partially
offsetting the effect of inflation.

In periods of an economic slowdown and in light of the recent terroristic activities, the Company
may be subject to additional risks arising in connection with the underlying real estate, including defaults under or
non-renewal of tenant leases, bankruptcy of tenants, competition, inability to rent unleased space, lower tenant sales
resulting in reduced percentage rents, and higher energy and cther operating costs, all resulting in placing increased
strain on the Company’s financial condition.

The use of the Internet for retail sales is growing rapidly, but at present is a very minor component
of total retail sales distribution in the United States, and particularly of the types of products typically sold in
enclosed regional malls. Management of the Company does not foresee that Internet retailing will have a significant
effect on tenant sales or occupancy levels in the foreseeable future.

(h) Forward Looking Statements

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains certain forward-looking statements within the
meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and Section 21E of the Securities Act of 1934,
as amended. Such statements are based on assumptions and expectations, which may not be realized and are
inherently subject to risks and uncertainties, many of which cannot be predicted with accuracy. Future events and
actual results, financial and otherwise, may differ from the results discussed in the forward-looking statements.
Risk and other factors that might cause differences, some of which could be material, include, but are not limited to,
economic and credit market conditicns, the ability to refinance maturing indebtedness, the impact of competition,
consumer buying trends, financing and development risks, construction and lease-up delays, cost overruns, the level
and volatility of interest rates, the rate of revenue increases versus expense increases and financial stability of
tenants within the retail industry, as well as other risks listed from time tc time in the Company’s reports filed with
the Securities and Exchange Commission or otherwise publicly disseminated by the Company. Although
management believes that the assumptions made in connection with the forward-looking statements are reasonable,
there are no assurances that the assumptions and expectations will prove to have been correct due to the foregoing
and other factors.

Item 7 (&) Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

Accounts receivable and accounts payable carrying amounts approximate the fair value of the
accounts receivable and accounts payable balances, respectively, at December 31, 2001.
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In the ordinary course of business, the Company is exposed to risks that increases in interest rates
may adversely affect interest costs associated with $115.0 million of variable-rate debt, which represents 16% of
total long-term debt, and costs when refinancing maturing fixed-rate debt. The following table presents principal
cash flows and related weighted average interest rates by expected maturity dates (dollars in millions):

Year ending December 31,

2002 003

Long-term debt
Fixed rate debt $ 193 $ 10.1
Average interest rate 8.19% 7.27%

Variable rate debt - -
Average interest rate - -

2004

$ 771
7.80%
$115.0
4.18%

2007 and

2005 006 Thereafter
$ 213 $ 104 $467.5
7.39% 7.25% 7.53%

Interest rate risk for the Company decreased in 2001 due to a decrease in variable rate debt from
$141.1million at December 31, 2000 to $115.0, million at December 31, 2001. The Company’s variable rate debt is
based primarily on LIBOR, and the Company will incur increasing interest costs if LIBOR increases. The Company
has entered into interest rate derivative instruments to mitigate such risks in 2001, and as of December 31, 2001, the
Company had $35 million of swap agreements outstanding. Except for the changes just mentioned, the market risk
exposures are not substantially different from what existed at December 31, 2000.

A hypothetical change of 10% in LIBOR, on which the Company’s variable interest rates are
based, would increase or decrease interest expense by approximately $0.2 million based on the level of variable rate

debt outstanding at December 31, 2001.



ANDERSEN

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

REFORT OF INDEPENDENT PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS

To the Board of Trustees and Shareholders of
Crown American Realty Trust:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Crown American Realty Trust (a Maryland real
estate investment trust) and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2001 and 2000, and the related consolidated statements
of operations, shareholders’ equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31,
2001. These financial statements and the schedules referred to below are the responsibility of the management of
Crown American Realty Trust. .Cur responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements and
schedules based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States. Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used
and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation.
We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated
financial position of Crown American Realty Trust and subsidiaries, as of December 31, 2001 and 2000, and the
consolidated results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended
December 31, 2001, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States.

Our audit was made for the purpose of forming an opinion on the basic financial statements taken as a whole. The
schedules included in Part IV of the 2001 Form 10-K are presented for purposes of complying with the Securities
and Exchange Commission rules and are not part of the basic financial statements. These schedules have been
subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and, in our opinion, fairly
state in all material respects the financial data required to be set forth therein in relation to the basic financial
statements taken as a whole.

Ot Gpudppson LLP

Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania
January 24, 2002
(except Note 5 which is
dated March 6, 2002)
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CROWN AMERICAN REALTY TRUST
Consolidated Statements of Operations

Year Ended December 31,

Rental operations:
Revenues:

Minimum rent
Percentage rent
Property operating cost recoveries
Temporary and promotional leasing
Utility redistribution income
Miscellaneous income

Property operating costs:
Recoverable operating costs
Property administrative costs
Other operating costs
Utility redistribution expense
Depreciation and amortization

Other expenses:
General and administrative
Restructuring costs
Interest, net

Property sales:
Gain on sale of outparcel land
Gain (loss) on asset sales

Income before extraordinary items and minority
interest

Extraordinary loss on early extinguishment of debt

Income before minority interest in
Operating Partnership

Minority interest in Operating Partnership
Net income
Dividends on preferred shares

Net loss allocable to common shares

Per common share information:
Basic and Diluted EPS
Loss before extraordinary items
Extraordinary items
Net loss

Weighted average shares outstanding (000)

2001

2000

1999

(in thousands, except per share data)

$ 114,797 $ 108,299
7,207 8,224
35,423 36,323
11,090 10,840
14,133 14,533
2,236 3,129
184,886 181,348
48,992 47,549
2,728 2,583
3,274 3,707
10,769 10,971
48,885 47,754
114,648 112,564
70,238 68,784
5,456 5,167
- 369
55,014 57,062
60,470 62,598
9,768 6,186
437 924
- (224)
437 700
10,205 6,886
- (243)
10,205 6,643
(4,999) (664)
5,206 5,979
(13,613) (13,695)
$ (8,407 $__ (1,716)
$ (0.32) $ (0.28)
- (0.01)
$ (0.32) $ (0.29)
26,208 26,208

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.
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$ 101,978

7,077

34,314

10,654

14,499

695
ST

45,346
2,375
1,991

11,342

44,306

105,360

63,857

4,751
2,251
51,075
—s8.07T
5,780

471
1,290
1,761

7,541

7,541
1,734
9,275

(13,750)
$ (4475

$ ©.17)

$ €.17)

26,208




CROWN AMERICAN REALTY TRUST
Consolidated Balance Sheets

December 31,

2001 2000

(in thousands, except share
and per share data)

Assets

Income-producing properties:

Land b 147,759 3 145,936
Buildings and improvements 1,035,761 1,024,191
Deferred leasing and other charges 45,280 45,752
1,228,300 1,215,879
Accumulated depreciation and amortization (468,563) (430,474)
760,237 785,405
Minority interest in Operating Partnership 3,303 3,050
Other Assets:
Investment in joint venture 3,705 4,424
Cash and cash equivalents 16,999 14,613
Restricted cash and escrow deposits 7,998 7,956
Tenant and other receivables 14,871 18,191
Deferred charges and other assets 19,667 21,862
$ 826,780 $ 855,501
Liabilities and Sharehelders' Equity
Liabilities:
Debt on income-producing properties $ 720,729 $ 722,848
Accounts payable and other liabilities 40,928 36,081
761,657 758,929
Commitments and contingencies
Shareholders’ equity:
Non-redeemable senior preferred shares, 11.00% cumulative,

$.01 par value, 2,500,000 shares authorized and issued at both

December 31, 2001 and 2000 25 25
Common shares, par value $.01 per share, 120,000,000 shares authorized,

27,742,317 shares issued at both December 31, 2001 and 2000 277 277
Additional paid-in capital 317,450 317,475
Accumulated deficit (235,980) (205,624)

81,772 112,153
Less common shares held in treasury at cost, 1,534,398 shares

at both December 31, 2001 and 2000 (14,652) (14,652)
Less preferred shares held in treasury at cost, 25,000 shares at both

December 31, 2001 and 2000 (929) (929)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (1,068) —

65,123 96,572
3 826,780 $ 855,501

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.
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CROWN AMERICAN REALTY TRUST
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash
provided by operating activities:
Minority interest in Operating Partnership
Equity earnings in joint venture
Depreciation and amortization
(Gain) loss on asset sales
Extraordinary loss on early extinguishment of debt
Restructuring costs
Net changes in:
Tenant and other receivables
Restricted cash and escrow deposits
Deferred charges and other assets
Accounts payable and other liabilities
Net cash provided by eperating activities

Cash flows from investing activities:
Investment in income properties
Change in investing escrow deposits
Proceeds from asset sales
Distributions from joint venture
Net cash used in investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities:

Proceeds from issuance of debt, net of loan deposits and
prepayment penalties

Cost of issuance of debt

Debt repayments

Dividends and distributions paid on common shares and
partnership units

Dividends paid on senior preferred shares

Net proceeds from exercise of share options and from dividend
reinvestment plan

Purchase of senior preferred shares held in treasury

Cash flow support payments

Net cash used in financing activities

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of peried

Cash and cash equivalents, end of period
Supplemental Disclosures:
Interest paid (net of amounts capitalized)

Interest cost capitalized
Other comprehensive income (loss) - hedging activities

&3

Year Ended December 31,
2001 2000 1999
(in thousands)
5,206 $ 5,979 $ 9,275
4,999 664 (1,734)
(344) (210) (235)
52,176 53,991 50,071
- 224 (1,290)
- 243 -
- 369 2,251
3,320 (2,423) 1,571
250 75 (125)
997) 1,297 (1,583)
3,779 (1,923) (1,262)
68,389 58,286 56,939
(23,374) (46,115) (53,179)
201 6,120 (475)
- 8,898 3,361
694 472 610
(22,479) (30,625) (49,683)
16,918 63,916 56,349
79 (2,159) (2,351)
(19,530) (50,328) (17,350)
(30,287) (29,926) (29,474)
(13,613) (13,695) (13,750)
- — 6
- (929) -
3,067 2,902 2,973
(43,524) (30,219) (3,597)
2,386 (2,558) 3,659
14,613 17,171 13,512
16,999 $ 14,613 S 17,171
53,152 $ 54,765 $ 49,362
38 $ 839 $ 1,636
(1,068) $ - $ —

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.
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CROWN AMERICAN REALTY TRUST
Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity

Senior
Common Preferred Accumulated
Common Senior Additional Shares Shares QOther
Shares Preferred Commor Paid-in Accumulated Held in Heldin  Comprehensive
Outstanding Shares Shares Capital Deficit Treasury Treasury Loss Total
(in thousands) (in thousands)
26,207  Balance, December 31, 1998 $ 25§ 277 $ 314,252 $§ (150,385) § (14,652) $ - 8 - § 149517
Common shares issued under
1 employee option plan 6 6
Transfer in (out) of limited
partner's interest in the
Operating Partnership 8 8
Capital contributions from
Crown Investments Trust:
Cash flow support 2,155 2,155
Net income 9,275 9,275
Dividends paid or accrued:
Preferred shares (13,750) (13,750)
Common shares (21,360) (21,360)
26,208  Balance, December 31, 1999 25 277 316,421 (176,220) (14,652) - - 125,851
Preferred shares (25) purchased
and held in treasury (929) (929)
Transfer in (out) of limited
partner's interest in the
Operating Partnership 7 &7
Capital contributions from
Crown Investments Trust:
Cash flow support 1,111 1,111
Net income 5,979 5,979
Dividends paid or accrued:
Preferred shares (13,695) (13,69%5)
Common shares (21,688) (21,688)
26,208  Balance, December 31, 2000 25 277 317,475 (205,624) (14,652) {929 - 96,572
Comprehensive loss:
Net income 5,206 5,206
Net loss on cash-flow
hedging activities (1,068) (1,068)
Total comprehensive income 5,206 (1,068) 4,138
Transfer in (out) of limited
partner's interest in the (25) (25)
Operating Partnership
Dividends paid or accrued:
Preferred shares (13,613) (13,613)
Common shares (21,949) (21,949)
26,208  Balance, December 31, 2001 b3 25§ 277 $ 317,450 $ (235980) §  (14,652) $ (929) $ (1,068) § 65,123

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.
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CROWN AMERICAN REALTY TRUST
Notes to Consolidated Finamcial Statememts

NOTE 1 - CORGANIZATION, NATURE OF OPERATIQONS, AND BASIS OF PRESENTATION
Organization

Crown American Realty Trust (the "Company") was formed on May 14, 1993 as a Maryland real estate investment
trust (a "REIT") to acquire and operate substantially all of the enclosed shopping mall properties and two office
buildings (the "Properties") owned by Crown American Associates ("Crown Associates"), formerly Crown
American Corporation. Crown Associates is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Crown Holding Company (“Crown
Holding”). Crown Associates, which was founded in 1950, was engaged principally in the development,
acquisition, ownership and management of enclosed shopping malls and, to a lesser extent, strip shopping centers,
hotels and office buildings. The Company raised approximately $405 million in equity through an initial public
offering of approximately 25.5 million shares, which occurred on August 17, 1993, and used the proceeds to
purchase an initial 78% general partnership interest in Crown American Properties, L.P. (the "Operating
Partnership"), a partnership which was formed just prior to consummation of the offering to own and operate the
Properties. These proceeds, along with new borrowings, were used by the Operating Partnership to retire debt
related to the Properties.

Simultaneously with the public offering, Crown Associates and an affiliate transferred the Properties and the
management operations intc either the Company, the Operating Partnership, or Crown American Financing
Partnership (the; "Financing Partnership”).

The limited partnership interest in the Operating Partnership and the 1.6 million shares in the Company received for
two malls transferred in 1993 are currently held by Crown Investments Trust ("Crown Investments") and by Crown
American Investment Company (a subsidiary of Crown Investments). While the Company, as general partner, has
broad rights and authority to conduct the business, the Operating Partnership agreement provides that the consent of
Crown Investments is required for certain actions, including among others, merger, consolidation, dissolution,
liquidation, or sale of all or substantially all of the assets of the Operating Partnership.

As described in Notes 13 and 14 to the Consolidated Financial Statements, the Company acquired three properties
in 1998, and sold two properties, one each in 1998 and 2000.

As further described in Note 6 to the Consolidated Financial Statements, on July 3, 1997 the Company completed an
offering of 2,500,000 11.00% non-convertible senior preferred shares at an initial offering price of $50.00 per share.

Nature of Operations

The Company is a fully-integrated real estate company primarily engaged in the ownership, operation, management,
leasing, acquisition, development, redevelopment, expansion, rencvation and financing of enclosed shopping malls.
The Company’s revenues are primarily derived under real estate leases with national, regional and local department
store and other specialty retailers. Approximately 59% of the Company’s revenues were derived from malls located
in Pennsylvania. The Company’s top five tenants in terms of 2001 total revenues are as follows:

Percent of Total Revenues

2001 2000
Sears Roebuck and Co. 5.3% 5.2%
J C Penney, Inc. 4.1% 4.1%
Gap, Inc. 3.2% 2.7%
The Bon-Ton Stores, Inc. 3.1% 2.9%
Venator Group 2.4% 2.3%

The Properties currently consist of: (1) 26 wholly-owned enclosed shopping malls (and adjacent outparcels and strip
centers at certain of the enclosed malls) located in Pennsylvania, New Jersey, Maryland, Tennessee, North Carolina,
West Virginia, Virginia and Georgia, (2) a 50% general partnership interest in Palmer Park Mall Venture, which
owns Palmer Park Mall located in Easton, Pennsylvania, (3) Pasquerilla Plaza, an office building in Johnstown,
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Pennsylvania, which serves as the headquarters of the Company and is partially leased to other parties, and (4) a
parcel of land and building improvements located in Pennsylvania (under ground lease with a purchase option) sub-
leased to a department store chain. The Company also owns approximately 64 acres of land in the vicinity of
certain of the mall properties which are held for development, ground lease, or sale to third parties.

As the owner of real estate, the Company is subject to risks arising in connection with the underlying real estate,
including defaults under or non—renewal of tenant leases, tenant bankruptcies, competition, inability to rent unleased
space, failure to generate sufficient income to meet operating expenses, as well as debt service, capital expenditures
and tenant improvements, environmental matters, financing availability and changes in real estate and zoning laws.
The success of the Company also depends upon certain key personnel, the Company's ability to maintain its
qualification as a REIT, compliance with the terms and conditions of debt instruments, and trends in the national
and local economy, including interest rates, income tax laws, governmental regulations and legislation, and
population trends.

Basis of Presentation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements of the Company include all accounts of the Company, its
wholly-owned subsidiaries, and its majority—owned subsidiary, the Operating Partnership. The Operating
Partnership directly owns six malls, the 50% joint venture interest in Palmer Park Mall, the Corporate headquarters
building, and the Westgate anchor pad. All remaining properties are owned by seven partnerships and limited
liability companies that are either 99.5% or 100.0% owned by the Operating Partnership. The remaining 0.5%
interests in these second-tier entities are owned by the Company through its wholly-owned subsidiaries. The
Operating Partmership also has all paid employees and manages all properties except the Palmer Park Mall and the
Westgate anchor pad. Other than its ownership interests in its subsidiaries, the Company owns no other assets and
has no other business activities. The Company is the scle general partner in the Operating Partnership, and at
December 31, 2001 the Company held 100% of the preferred partnership interests (see Note 6 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements) and 72.47% of the common partnership interests. All significant intercompany amounts have
been eliminated.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and
liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported
amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Some of these estimates and assumptions include judgments on revenue recognition, estimates for common area
maintenance and real estate tax accruals, provisions for uncollectable accounts and for losses under the Company's
self-insurance program, and the treatment of certain costs as capital or expense. The Company's significant
accounting policies are described in more detail in Note 2 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Revenues and expenses for 1999 and 2000 have been reclassified to be consistent with the current year presentation.
This reclassification is the result of reflecting utility redistribution income and expense on a gross basis. Revenues
and expenses were increased by $10.8 million, $11.0 million, and $11.3 million in 2001, 2000, and 1999,
respectively, due to this reclassification. This change had no effect on prior year net income.

NOTE 2 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Income-Producing Properties

Income—producing properties are recorded at the lower of cost net of depreciation, or net realizable value. Included
in such costs are acquisition, development, construction, tenant improvements, interest incurred during construction,
certain capitalized improvements and replacements and certain allocated overhead. Allocated overhead is computed
primarily on the basis of time spent by certain departments in various operations. Leasing charges, including tenant
construction allowances and direct costs incurred by the Company to obtain a lease, are deferred and amortized over
the related leases or terms appropriate to the expenditure.

Depreciation on buildings and improvements is provided on individual components, using the straight-line method
over estimated useful lives of 10 to 45 years resulting in an average composite life of approximately 30 years.
Depreciation on tenant improvements and deferred leasing costs is provided using the straight-line method over the
initial term of the related leases. Unamortized balances of tenant improvement costs and deferred leasing costs are
fully written off as additional amortization expense in the year in which a tenant vacates.
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With respect to assets held for the long-term production of income, the Company assesses impairment based on
whether the estimated future net cash flows expected to be generated by the asset (undiscounted and without
interest) is in excess of the net book value of the asset. If a property held for long term production of income is
impaired, its basis is adjusted to fair value. With respect to assets held for sale, the Company assesses impairment
based on whether the net realizable value (estimated fair value sales price less direct cost to sell) is in excess of the
net book value of the asset at the mall level where a separately identifiable cash flow stream exists. If a property
held for sale is impaired, its net book value is adjusted to fair value less estimated direct cost to sell.

Certain improvements and replacements are capitalized when they extend the useful life, increase capacity, or
improve the efficiency of the asset. Such capitalized costs were $5.5 millicn, $6.5 million, and $7.3 million for the
years ended December 31, 2001, 2000, and 1999, respectively. All other repair and maintenance items are
expensed as incurred. Total expensed repairs and maintenance costs were $11.1 million, $10.9 million, and $10.0
million, for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000, and 1999, respectively.

Substantially all of the income—producing properties have been pledged to secure the Company's currently
outstanding debt and lines of credit.

Interest and Financing Costs

Interest costs are capitalized related to income-producing properties under construction, to the extent such assets
qualify for capitalization. Total interest capitalized was $0.0 million, $0.8 million, and $1.6 million, for the years
ended December 31, 2001, 2000, and 1999, respectively. Interest expense includes amortization of deferred
financing costs related to completed financings (see Note 3 to the Consolidated Financial Statements) and is net of
miscellaneous interest income on cash and escrow deposit balances aggregating $ 0.8 million, $1.2 million, and $1.7
million, for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000, and 1999, respectively. Deferred financing costs are based
on actual costs incurred in obtaining the financing and are amortized as part of interest expense over the term of the
related debt instrument. Costs incurred for financings which are not completed are expensed as part of interest
costs. Unamortized financing costs related to debt that is extinguished early are written off as an extraordinary item.

Revenue Recognition

The Company, as a lessor, has retained substantially all of the risks and benefits of ownership and accounts for its
tenant leases as operating leases. Minimum rents are recognized on a straight-line basis; as such, the rental
revenues for leases which contain rent abatements and contractual increases are recognized on a straight-line basis
over the initial term of the related lease. Property operating cost recoveries from tenants of common area
maintenance, real estate taxes, and other recoverable costs are recognized in the period the expenses are incurred.
These recoveries also include certain capital expenditures that are recovered from the tenants in the period the
depreciation is recognized. Percentage rent is recognized at the point in time a specific tenant’s sales breakpoint is
achieved. Lease termination fees received by the Company from its tenants are recognized as income in the period
received.

Reserves have been established for estimated uncollectable accounts. These reserves include amounts for tenant
base rents and recoveries and reserves for step rent receivables, which may arise due to tenant bankruptcies or early
terminations. These reserves in the aggregate represented approximately 15% and 14% of the related accounts
receivable balances at December 31, 2001 and 2000, respectively.

Income Taxes

The Company elected to be taxed as a Real Estate Investment Trust (REIT) under Sections 856 through 860 of the
Internal Revenue Code of 1986 (the “Code”), commencing with its first taxable year ended December 31, 1993, and
intends to conduct its operations so as to continue to qualify as a REIT under the Code. As a REIT, the Company
generally will not be subject to Federal or state income tax on its net income that it currently distributes to
shareholders. Qualification and taxation as a REIT depends on the Company’s ability to meet certain dividend
distribution tests, share ownership requirements, and various qualification tests prescribed in the Code.

During 2001, a new Taxable REIT Subsidiary (a "TRS") was formed to conduct certain business activities that are

not customarily performed by a REIT. A TRS will be subject to federal and state income taxes on its net taxable
income. There was a very limited amount of activity in the TRS during 2001.
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The Company’s taxable income (before the dividends paid deduction) for the years ended December 31, 2001,
2000, and 1999, was approximately $17.6 million, $8.7 million, and $13.6 million, respectively. These amounts
differ significantly from net income (loss) as reported in the Company’s consolidated financial statements for the
same periods. In order to maintain REIT status, the Company must distribute to its common and preferred
shareholders at least 95% of its taxable income in the form of deductible dividends. Effective for the Company’s
2001 tax year, the distribution requirement declined to 90% of its taxable income. This required distribution is
significantly less than the amounts actually distributed each year since 1993 when the Company elected REIT
status.

If the Company fails to qualify as a REIT in any taxable year, the Company will be subject to Federal and state
income taxes (including any applicable alternative minimum tax) on its taxable income at regular corporate rates.
Even if the Company qualifies for taxation as a REIT, the Company may be subject to certain state and local taxes
on its income and property and to Federal income and excise taxes on its undistributed income.

The annual amount and the federal tax treatment of dividends paid on common shares were as follows:

Total Paid Curremt
Per Commeon Taxable Non-Taxable
Share Dividends Return of Capital
Year ended December 31, 2001 $0.8375 30% 70%
Year ended December 31, 2000 $0.8275 0% 100%
Year ended December 31, 1999 $0.8150 5% 55%

During the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000, and 1999, the Company paid dividends of $5.50 per preferred
share. The 2001 preferred dividends were 100% taxable income and 0% return of capital, the 2000 preferred
dividends were 80% taxable income and 20% return of capital, and the 1999 dividends were 100% taxable income.

Investment in Joint Venture

The Company's 50% joint venture investment in Palmer Park Mall Venture, which owns Palmer Park Mall (not
managed by the Company), is accounted for under the equity method. As such, the Company’s 50% share of the
joint venture’s net income is reflected in miscellaneous income in the period earned and distributions received from
the joint venture are reflected as a reduction in the carrying amount of the investment. The investment amount in
excess of the underlying net assets, net of accumulated amortization, is $3.2 million at December 31, 2001, with a
remaining amortization period of approximately 9 years. Amortization expense was $0.4 million in each of the
three years ended December 31, 2001. Beginning in 2002, the Company will be subject to the applicable provisions
of SFAS 142 on this amount and, therefore, no additional amortization expense will be recorded and the Company
will evaluate the excess investment for any impairment. The Company has guaranteed $9.5 million of the total
$19.0 million of mortgage debt owed by Palmer Park Mall Venture.

Minority Interest

Minority interest represents the common partnership units in the Operating Partnership that are owned by Crown
Investments and its subsidiary. At December 31, 2001 Crown Investments and its subsidiary owned 9,956,398
common partnership units, or 27.53% of the total common partnership units outstanding. Crown American Realty
Trust owns the remaining 72.47%. The minority interest balance is adjusted each year for Crown Investments® and
its subsidiary’s proportionate share of net income (loss) of the Operating Partnership (after deducting preferred unit
distributions), common partnership distributions, and additional capital contributions. Primarily because the
distributions on common partnership units have been larger than the Operating Partnership’s income (loss) after
preferred unit distributions, the minority interest account on the consolidated balance sheets has been declining each
year. The balance was reduced below zero in the second quarter of 2000. Under generally accepted accounting
principles, when the minority partner’s share of the Operating Partnership’s net income (loss) and the minority
partner’s cash distributions and capital contributions, would cause the minority interest balance to be less than zero,
such balance must be reported at zero unless there is a legal obligation of the minority partner to reimburse the
Operating Parmership for such excess amounts. The Cash Flow Support Agreement does provide for such
obligation by the minority partner in the form of cash flow support payments on four (currently three) of the
Company’s malls that were in the lease-up phase at the time of the Company’s IPO in 1993. Accordingly, since the
minority interest account is reduced below zero, and there is a legal obligation of the minority partner to make
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additional cash contributions to the Operating Partnership, the minority interest balance at December 31, 2001 is
shown on the Consolidated Balance Sheet as an asset. This asset balance at December 31, 2001 has been limited to
$3.3 million, the estimated amount of cash flow support to be received over the next twelve months. An additional
amount of $6.0 million, representing the excess losses and distributions over and above the cash flow support, has
been absorbed by the Company in its share of loss from the Operating Partnership for the calendar year ended
December 31, 2001. On a cumulative basis, $8.6 million of such losses have been absorbed by the Company,
through December 31, 2001.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents includes all unrestricted cash and cash equivalent investments with original maturities of
three months or less.

Net Income (LLoss) Per Share

During 1997 the Company adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 128, Earnings Per
Share. Under SFAS No. 128, basic income (loss) per common share is computed by dividing net income (loss)
applicable to common shares, as shown in the Consolidated Statements of Operations, by the weighted average
number of common shares outstanding for the year. Diluted income (loss) per share is computed the same way
except that the weighted average number of common shares outstanding is increased, using the treasury stock
method, for the assumed exercise of options under the Company’s share incentive plans, which are the Company’s
only dilutive securities. Because no anti-dilution is permitted under SFAS No. 128, diluted and basic loss per
common share are identical in each year ended December 31, 2001, 2000, and 1999.

The number of outstanding options to purchase common shares for which the option exercise prices exceeded the
average market price of the common shares aggregated 568,946, 940,720, and 1,022,345 for the years ended
December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999, respectively. These options were excluded from the computation of diluted
earnings per share under the treasury stock method.

The calculation of diluted earnings per share for 2001, 2000, and 1999 would have included approximately 133,000
shares, 16,000 shares, and O shares, respectively, for the assumed exercise of options under the Company’s share
incentive plans, except that no anti-dilution is permitted under SFAS No. 128.

New Accounting Pronouncements

In July 2001, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued Statements of Financial Accounting Standards No.
141, Business Combinations ("SFAS 141") and No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets ("SFAS 142").
SFAS 141 requires all business combinations initiated after June 30, 2001 to be accounted for using the purchase
method. Under SFAS 142, goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite lives are no longer amortized but are
reviewed annually (or more frequently if impairment indicators arise) for impairment. Separable intangible assets
that are not deemed to have indefinite lives will continue to be amortized over their useful lives (but with no
maximum life). The amortization provisions of SFAS 142 apply to goodwill and intangible assets acquired after
June 30, 2001. With respect to goodwill and intangible assets acquired prior to July 1, 2001, the Company is
required to adopt SFAS 142 effective January 1, 2002. The implementation of SFAS 142 is not expected to have a
material effect on the Company's results of operations or financial position.

In June 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 143, "Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations” ("SFAS 143") whose
provisions discuss the financial accounting and reporting for obligations associated with the retirement of tangible
long-lived assets and the associated asset retirement costs. It applies to legal obligations associated with the
retirement of long-lived assets that result from the acquisition, construction, development and/or the normal
operation of a long-lived asset. The implementation of SFAS 143 which is effective January 1, 2003, is not
expected to have a material effect on the Company's results of operations or financial position.

In August 2001, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards ("SFAS") No. 144, "Accounting for
the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets" ("SFAS 144") which supersedes SFAS No. 121, "Accounting for
the Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and for Long-Lived Assets to be Disposed of" ("SFAS 121") and the
accounting and reporting provisions of APB No. 30, "Reporting the Results of Operations -- Reporting the Effects
of Disposal of a Segment of a Business, and Extraordinary, Unusual and Infrequently Occurring Events and
Transactions" for the disposal of a segment of a business. SFAS 144 retains many of the fundamental provisions of
SFAS 121, but resolves certain implementation issues associated with that Statement. The Company has early
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adopted the provisions of SFAS 144 during the third quarter of fiscal 2001 and its implementation did not have a
material effect on the Company's results of operations or financial position.

NOTE 3 - DEFERRED CHARGES AND OTHER ASSETS

Deferred charges, net of amortization, and other assets are summarized as follows (in thousands):

December 31. 2001 December 31, 2000
Deferred financing costs $7417 $ 9,200
Prepaid expenses and miscellaneous receivables 5,250 5,156
Furniture, fixtures, equipment, and other 7.000 7,506
$ 19,667 $21.862

Deferred Financing Costs

Deferred financing costs, net of accumulated amortization, at December 31, 2001, consists of approximately $3.6
million related to the $465 million mortgage debt refinancing with GECC in August 1998, approximately $2.9
million related to the GECC line of credit entered into in 1997 and the modifications and expansions thereto in
1999 and 2000, and $0.9 million for new debt obtained after the formation of the Company. Amortization of
deferred financing costs was $1.9 million, $2.3 million, and $1.7 million for the years ended December 31, 2001,
2000, and 1999, respectively. Deferred financing costs written off as part of extraordinary losses on early
extinguishment of debt were $0.0 million, $0.2 miilion and $0.0 million for the years ended December 31, 2001,
2000 and 1999, respectively. Deferred financing costs incurred and capitalized were $0.1 million, $2.4 million, and
$3.7 million for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000, and 1999, respectively.

Deferred Operating Covenant Costs

During fiscal year 1991, approximately $23 million was paid to three anchor tenants with respect to leases at ten of
the malls and in 1992 an additional $4 million was paid in order to obtain operating covenants (a covenant requiring
the anchor, among other things, to maintain operations in certain of the Properties for the duration of the lease
period) and to extend the terms of their leases beyond fiscal year 2000. In April 1993, an additional $0.2 million
was paid to another tenant to obtain similar rights. These costs were capitalized and were amortized over the life of
the operating covenants with the amortization recorded as a reduction of minimum rent. Amortization was $2.6
million in each of the years ended December 31, 2000, and 1999. At December 31, 2000, these deferred operating
covenants have been amortized in full.

In addition, one of these tenants has exercised its option to require the Company to expand and renovate certain of
the leased premises, at the Company's expense, and to reimburse the tenant for fixtures allowances, which together
aggregated approximately $9.0 million. As of December 31, 2000, all of these costs had been incurred and
capitalized in the consolidated financial statements.

NOTE 4 - RESTRUCTURING COSTS

During the first and third quarters of 1999 and the first quarter of 2000, the Company recorded restructuring charges
of $1.0 million, $1.2 million, and $0.4 million, respectively, related to severance and related costs for employees
affected by three reductions in the number of corporate office staff together with reductions in other corporate
office-related expenses. The restructurings involved approximately forty-seven home office employees whose
positions were terminated and who represented a cross-section of management, clerical, and secretarial employees.

The restructuring costs are shown as a separate line item in the Consolidated Statements of Operations.
Approximately $0.1 million was paid out during 2001 related to the three restructuring programs outlined above.
Approximately $0.1 million of liability remains at December 31, 2001 and is included in “Accounts payable and
other liabilities” in the Consolidated Balance Sheet. It is expected that all of the remaining liability will be paid in
2002,
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NOTE 5 - DEBT ON INCOME-PRODUCING PROPERTIES

Debt on income—producing properties consisted of the following (in thousands):

December 31. 2001 December 31, 2000
GECC mortgage loan $ 457,195 $ 463,478
Permanent loans 113,506 118,253
Secured lines of credit 150.028 141,117
$ 720.729 $722.848

GECC Mortgage Loan

On August 28, 1998, the Company closed a $465 million 10-year mortgage Ioan with General Electric Capital
Corporation (“GECC”). The gross proceeds from the new loan (the “GECC Mortgage Loan”) were used to
refinance the $280.6 million remaining balance cof the Kidder Mortgage Loans, which were originated at the time of
the Company’s initial public offering, a $110.0 million interim mortgage, and a $30.0 million secured term loan.
The remaining proceeds were used largely to establish escrows to fund the remaining expansion and redevelopment
costs of Patrick Henry Mall and Nittany Mall, and to fund closing costs, initial loan reserves and prepayment
penalties with respect to $200.0 million of the Kidder Mortgage Loans and the $30.0 million secured term loan that
were pre-paid prior to their maturify dates. The prepayment penalties for the Kidder Mortgage Loans and the $30
million term loan were approximately $16.6 million. In addition, approximately $5.9 million of unamortized
deferred financing costs related to the Kidder Mortgage Loans and the $110.0 million interim mortgage loan were
written off. Both of these items were accounted for as an extraordinary loss on early extinguishment of debt. The
GECC Mortgage Loan has a fixed stated interest rate of 7.43% and is secured by cross-collateralized mortgages on
15 of the malls owned by separate special purpose partnerships (see below). The loan provides for payment of
interest only during the first two years and interest and principal amortization, based on 25 year amortization, during
the last eight years. Crown Investments has guaranteed $250 million of the GECC Mortgage Loan."

Permanent Loans

At December 31, 2001, permanent loans consisted of eight lcans secured by six properties owned by the Operating
Partnership or its subsidiaries. Included in permanent loans is a $1.9 million interest free Urban Development
Action Grant loan with the City of Johnstown, Pennsylvania, secured by the Company’s headquarters which is
being amortized through October 2006. A 30.9 million loan related to Carlisle Plaza Mall is an Industrial
Development Bond secured with a $0.9 million letter of credit. Crown Holding has guaranteed one of the
permanent loans with a current outstanding balance of $9.4 million.

In October 2001, the Company executed a three year extension to July 2005 of a $16.0 million mortgage loan that
was scheduled to mature in mid-2002. The interest rate on the morigage loan will change in July 2002 from a fixed
rate of 7.66% to a floating rate of LIBOR plus 2.00%; annual debt service will be reduced from current levels at this
time as well.

In addition, as more fully described in Note 17 to the Consolidated Financial Statements, in January 2002, the
Company refinanced one of the permanent loans having a balance of $38.4 million with a new $53.3 million loan.

Secured Lines of Credit

In September 2000 the Company executed a three-year extension and cther modifications to its secured revolving
credit facility with GECC. The maturity date on the line was extended from November 17, 2001 to November 17,
2004. The interest rate on the loan was reduced from LIBCR plus 2.95% to LIBOR plus 2.25%. The maximum
potential availability under the line was increased from the former limit of $150 million to $175 million due to the
addition of Washington Crown Center to the collateral base in the fourth quarter of 2000. Actual availability under
the line is based on the level of operating income generated at the properties; at December 31, 2001, total borrowing
capacity was approximately $152.3 million. The revolving credit facility is currently secured by cross-collateralized
mortgages on six of the Company’s enclosed malls. The facility also includes pre-defined release provisions should
the Company sell certain of the malls to third parties. The facility is locked out to prepayment until September 29,
2002, other than for property releases, and is prepayable thereafter with no prepayment penalty. Borrowings under
this credit facility totaled $148.5 million at December 31, 2001.
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In addition to the above facility, the Company has a $6.0 million line with a bank secured by a mortgage on the
Company’s headquarters office building bearing interest at LIBOR plus 2.25%. The maturity date on this line has
been extended to April 30, 2004. There was $1.5 million outstanding under this line as of December 31, 2001.

Covenants and Restrictions

Various of the above loans and lines of credit contain certain financial covenants and other restrictions, including
limitations on the ratios, as defined, of total Company debt to EBITDA, EBITDA to fixed charges, and floating rate
debt to total debt. The Company was in compliance with all loan covenants as of and during the year ended
December 31, 2001 and through the date hereof except for requirements under the GECC Mortgage Loan, the
GECC line of credit and the loan on Capital City Mall that closed on January 3, 2002 to have insurance policies in
place with insurance companies that have certain minimum credit ratings, as defined in the agreement. Two of the
major insurance companies used by the Company had been down-graded by certain rating agencies.

As of March 6, 2002, the lenders approved the continued use of these insurance companies, provided no further
rating downgrades occur. If such downgrades were to occur and not be waived by the lenders, the Company will be
required to replace its coverage with other insurance companies that satisfy the loan credit requirements. While
management believes that it will be able to do so, if required, there is no assurance it can do so, because future
conditions may prevent the company from securing such insurance. In addition, the premiums paid may increase
significantly from those paid under current insurance policies.

Twenty of the Company's malls are owned or ground leased by special purpose consolidated subsidiaries of the
Company. The sole business purpose of the special purpose subsidiaries, as an ongoing covenant under the related
loan agreements, is the ownership and operation of the properties. The mortgaged malls and related assets owned
by these special purpose subsidiaries are restricted under the loan agreements for the payment of the related
mortgage loans and are not available to pay other debts of the consolidated Company. However, so long as the
[oans are not under an event of default, as defined in the loan agreements, the cash flows from these properties, after
debt service and reserve payments are made, are available for the general use of the consolidated Company.

Interest Rates and Swap Agreements

The GECC Mortgage Loan and the eight permanent loans with an aggregate principal balance of $605.7 million at
December 31, 2001 have fixed interest rates ranging from 4.25% to 9.11% (excluding the UDAG loan which is
interest free). The weighted average interest rate on this fixed-rate debt at December 31, 2001 and 2000 was 7.57%
and 7.63%, respectively. The weighted average interest rate during the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000, and
1999 was 7.62%, 7.63%, and 7.63%, respectively. The two lines of credit with an aggregate principal balance of
$115.0 million at December 31, 2001 have variable interest rates based on spreads of 2.25% above 30 day LIBOR.
The weighted average interest rate on the variable rate debt at December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999 was 4.18%,
8.81% and 8.63%, respectively. The weighted average interest rate on the variable rate debt during the years ended
December 31, 2001, 2000, and 1999 was 6.39%, 9.02%, and 7.67%, respectively.

In the first quarter of 2001, the Company entered into swap agreements on a notional amount of $35 million of the
Company's floating rate debt. The effective LIBOR swap rate on the two agreements is 5.197% and their terms
expire on February 1, 2003. The Company has designated this transaction as a cash flow hedge of a floating-rate
liability and has applied the guidance set forth in SFAS No. 133 (Accounting for Derivative Instruments and
Hedging Activities) to this transaction. The fair value of these transactions is recorded in the balance sheet, with the
offset to Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss. As of December 31, 2001, there was a cumulative mark to
market loss on the swap agreements of 31.1 million which has been reflected in accounts payable and other
liabilities, and in accumulated other comprehensive ioss.

Debt Maturities
As of December 31, 2001, the scheduled principal payments on all debt are as follows (in thousands). This table

reflects the payment terms of the Capital City refinancing that occurred on January 3, 2002 (see Note 17 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements).
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Year Ending

December 31 :
2002 $ 19,311
2003 10,084
2004 192,115
2005 21,260
2006 10,450
Thereafter 467.509

$ 720,729
NOTE 6 - PREFERRED SHARE OFFERING AND TREASURY SHARES

The Company completed an offering of 2,500,000 11.00% non-convertible senior preferred shares on July 3, 1997.
The initial offering price was $50.00 per share. The preferred shares are non-callable by the Company for a ten-
year period (until July 31, 2007). On or after July 31, 2007, the Company, at its option, may redeem the preferred
shares for cash at the redemption price per share set forth below:

Redemption Price
Redemption Period Per Share
July 31, 2007 through July 30, 2009 $£52.50
July 31, 2009 through July 30, 2010 $51.50
On or after July 31, 2010 $50.00

The net proceeds from the offering were $118.7 million after underwriter’s commission and other offering
expenses. The net proceeds were contributed by the Company to the Operating Parmership in exchange for
2,500,000 preferred Partnership Units. The terms of the new class of preferred Partnership Units generally parallel
those of the Company’s preferred shares as to distributions and redemption rights. In turn, the Operating
Partnership used the proceeds received from the Company primarily to repay $58.3 million of debt, to repurchase
$12.2 million of common shares held in treasury under a common share repurchase program approved by the Board
of Trustees, and to acquire Valley Mall for $32.0 million in November 1997.

As stipulated in the Prospectus Supplement, additional dividends shall be paid quarterly to the holders of the
preferred shares if the Company’s total debt (as defined) exceeds the product of 6.50 times EBITDA, as defined,
(the “Leverage Ratio”) without the consent of the holders of at least 50% of the preferred shares outstanding at the
time. The Leverage Ratio computed as of December 31, 2001, is 5.98 to 1. If required to be paid, additional
dividends will be for an amount per preferred share equal to 0.25% of the Preferred Liquidation Preference Amount
(defined below) on an annualized basis for the first quarter with respect to which an additional dividend is due. For
each quarter thereafter that the Company continues to exceed the permitted Leverage Ratio, the additional dividend
will increase by an amount per preferred share equal to an additional 0.25% of the Preferred Liquidation Preference
Amount on an annualized basis. However, the maximum total dividend on the preferred shares, including any
additional dividends, will not at any time exceed 13.00% of the Preferred Liquidation Preference Amount per
annum. The Preferred Liquidation Preference Amount is equal to the sum of $50.00 per share plus an amount equal
to any accrued and unpaid dividends thereon (including any additional dividends) and whether or not eamed or
declared to the date of payment.

From time to time the Company’s Board of Trustees has authorized the Company to make open market purchases of
the Company’s common and preferred shares. During 1998 and 1997, the Company had repurchased 1,534,398
common shares for an aggregate purchase price of $14.7 million, and during 2000, 25,000 preferred shares were
repurchased for an aggregate purchase price of $0.9 million. All repurchased shares are currently held as treasury
shares. Additional repurchases of common and preferred shares will require approval by the Board. In connection
with such repurchases, the Operating Partnership redeemed from the Company an equivalent number of common
and preferred Partnership Units for the equivalent repurchase costs, thus maintaining a 1.0 to 1.0 relationship
between the number of the Company’s outstanding common and preferred shares of beneficial interest and the
number of common and preferred Partnership Units in the Operating Partnership that are owned by the Company.
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NQTE 7 - LEASING ACTIVITIES

The Company is primarily a lessor of shopping malls and the concentration of tenants are in the retail industry.
Leases are generally noncancelable and expire on various dates through approximately the year 2021. The future
minimum lease payments to be received under existing leases as of December 31, 2001, are as follows (in
thousands):

Year Ending

December 31
2002 $ 107,537
2003 91,534
2004 83,237
2005 74,896
2006 62,071
Thereafter 223,953

$ 843.228

The future minimum lease payments above do not include payments from tenants which are due based upon a
percentage of their gross sales or payments for the tenants' share of common area maintenance costs and real estate
taxes.

Total direct costs incurred by the Company to obtain leases, which are deferred and amortized over the life of the
lease, are as follows (in thousands):

Beginning Ending

Year Ended Balance, Net Additions Amortization Other Balance, Net
December 31, 2001 $ 15,007 $ 2,766 $ 3,550 $ - $ 14,223
December 31, 2000 15,807 2,673 3,331 (142) 15,007
December 31, 1999 16,474 2,705 3,372 - 15,807

NOTE 8 - RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Crown Rights

Pursuant to the Operating Partnership Agreement, Crown Investments, and its subsidiary, Crown American
Investment Company, have certain rights (the "Crown Rights"), which enable them to require the Operating
Partnership to redeem part or all of their common Partnership Units for a price equal to the equivalent value of the
common shares of the Company (on a one—for—one basis). Crown Investments currently owns 8,169,939 common
Partnership Units and Crown American Investment Company owns 1,786,459 common Partnership Units. The
obligation to redeem these Partnership Units may be assumed by the Company in exchange for, at the Company's
election, either shares (on a one—for—one basis) or the cash equivalent thereof, provided that the Company may not
pay for such redemption with shares to the extent that it would result in Crown Investments and its affiliates
beneficially or constructively owning more than 16.0% of the outstanding shares. Crown Investments and its
affiliates may require the Company to assume the obligation to pay for such redemption with shares to the extent
that Crown Investments and its affiliates own less than 16.0% of the outstanding shares. Crown Investments and its
subsidiary have pledged substantially all their Partnership Units (the “Pledged Units”) as collateral for a loan made
by an unrelated third party. In June 1995 and in August 1999 the Company filed Registration Statements on Form
S-3 with the Securities and Exchange Commission relating to the Pledged Units. If at the time of any such
permitted exchange the Registration Statement is not effective, the Company is obligated to purchase a specified
portion of the Pledged Units. The Company also has the right to purchase the Pledged Units in lieu of effecting an
exchange.

Management Agreements
The Company manages certain retail properties for Crown Associates and its affiliate pursuant to a management

agreement. For its services, the Company receives management and leasing fees which amounted to $0.02 million,
$0.04 million, and $0.04 million for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000, and 1999, respectively.
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In addition, Crown Investments, Crown Associates, and their affiliates have agreed to pay the Company sales
commissions up to 15% of the net sales price for its services in selling certain land and other assets owned by these
parties. Total commissions eamed were $0.1 million, $0.4 million, and $0.1 million for the years ended
December 31, 2001, 2000, and 1999, respectively, and are included in miscellaneous income.

Support Agreement

In connection with the Company’s formation, Crown Investments entered into a cash flow support agreement (the
"Support Agreement"), which was subsequently amended in 1997 and 1994, with the Operating Partnership and the
Financing Partnership with respect to Mount Berry Square, Martinsburg Mall, Cak Ridge Mall and Bradley Square,
all of which were opened in 1991 and were in various stages -of initial lease-up, with mall store occupancy rates
below 75%.

The Support Agreement provides that Crown Investments will guarantee, on a quarterly basis, up to a maximum of
$1.0 million per quarter, that each of these four malls will generate a stipulated aggregate amount of base rents from
each such mall. The quarterly amounts due under the Support Agreement are calculated as the difference between
the aggregate amount of actual base rents earned in the quarter at each mail and the stipulated aggregate amount of
base rents. The 1997 amendment provided that the quarterly support amounts after 1997 shall be reduced by 2.5%
of the gross sales price of any sales of outparcel land that occur after 1997, which is intended to approximate the
base rents that could have been earned had such outparcel land been leased or developed, rather than sold. Crown
Investments was also obligated to fund any tenant improvement and leasing costs associated with an initial fixed
amount of shortfall space, as defined. The obligations of Crown Investments under the Support Agreement
presently continue as to three malls and will terminate as to a mall when the aggregate base rents at such mall
achieve the stipulated amount over four consecutive quarters (as determined by the independent trustees of the
Company). Crown Investments’ support obligation has ceased for Mt. Berry Square (Rome, GA) at the end of the
second quarter 2001.

Total cash flow support earned by the Company was $3.1 million, $2.9 million, and $3.0 million, for the years
ended December 31, 2001, 2000, and 1999, respectively. Earned support payments and funded tenant
improvements under the Support Agreement are accounted for as capital contributions made by the minority owner
in the Operating Partnership. As a result of the above transactions, the Company had a receivable of $0.8 million
from Crown Investments at December 31, 2001.

Crown Associates Lease at Pasquerilla Plaza

Approximately 14,600 square feet of Pasquerilla Plaza is leased to Crown Associates and an affiliate for annual base
rent of approximately $0.28 million. The rent was determined based on rental rates being paid by existing third
party tenants and on the fact that Crown Associates' lease includes certain furnishings and equipment and allows
Crown Associates use of certain facilities in the building not available to other third party tenants. The lease with
Crown Associates ends July 31, 2003 and includes a five—year renewal option at then market rents, The lease with
the affiliate ends March 31, 2009, but the affiliate has the right to cancel the lease at the end of March 31, 2004.
Total rent earned by the Company for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000, and 1999 was $0.29 million, $0.29
million, and $0.28 million, respectively.

Amounts due to or frem Crown Associates and Crown Investments

In addition to the above items, the Company allocates a portion of the costs related to its administration,
communications, MIS, legal, and risk management departments to Crown Associates based on estimated usage.
These allocated costs aggregated $0.7 million, $0.7 million, and $0.6 million for the years ended December 31,
2001, 2000, and 1999, respectively. Conversely, Crown Associates and its affiliates charge the Company for use of
their corporate aircraft (sold in October 1999), hotel and dining services. Such costs totaled $0.2 million, $0.2
million, and $0.5 million for the years ending December 31, 2001, 2000, and 1999, respectively. There were no
amounts due to or from Crown Associates and Crown Holding at December 31, 2001 as a result of the above
transactions.

NOTE 9 - LEASES

The Company is the lessee under third-party ground leases for Shenango Valley Mall and Crossroads Mall and is
the lessee under two third-party ground leases for Uniontown Mall. The Shenango Valley Mall lease expires on
July 24, 2017. The Crossroads lease expires in October, 2027 with a 49 year option period. One lease for
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Uniontown Mall expires on March 30, 2038 with up to seven five-year renewal options and the other lease expires
on April 30, 2039 with up to four five-year renewal options. All four leases require fixed annual payments. Fixed
rental expense related to these leases for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000, and 1999 was $0.17 million,
$0.23 million, and $0.30 million, respectively. Future minimum lease payments on these leases are $0.17 million
per year through 2006 and $4.3 million for all years thereafter.

Under the Uniontown and Shenango Mall leases additional rents are patd based on mall tenant percentage rents.
These additional rents were $0.10 million, $0.10 million, and $0.08 million, for the years ended December 31,
2001, 2000, and 1999, respectively.

Capital and Operating Leases

Assets under capital leases, primarily office and mall equipment, are capitalized using interest rates appropriate at
the inception of each lease. Capital lease obligations amounted to $2.6 million and $2.4 million at December 31,
2001 and 2000, respectively, and are included in accounts payable and other liabilities.

In addition to the capital leases mentioned above, the Company has numerous operating leases for various
computer, office, and mall equipment. Total amounts expensed for operating leases were $2.7 million, $1.9 million,
and $1.4 million for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000, and 1999, respectively.

NOTE 10 - RETIREMENT SAVINGS, SHARE INCENTIVE AND KEY INCENTIVE PLANS
Retirement Savings Plan and Savings Restoration Plan

The Company established the Crown American Realty Trust Retirement Savings Plan (the "Retirement Savings
Plan") pursuant to Section 401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code to cover employees of the Operating Partnership.
Employees who have completed at least one year of service, working 1,000 hours per year, and have attained age 21
are eligible to participate in the Retirement Savings Plan.

The Operating Partnership contributes a percentage of each eligible employee's base pay (the "Supplemental
Employer Contribution") to the Retirement Savings Plan on behalf of each eligible employee. The Supplemental
Employer Contribution is 2% of base pay if the employee is under 35 years of age, 3% if 35 to 49 years of age, and
5% if 50 years of age or older. In addition, participants may elect to contribute between 1% and (subject to certain
restrictions) 15%. Employee contributions are matched (the "Matching Contribution") by the Company up to 50%
of the first 3% of the participant's compensation.

The receipt of benefits attributable to the Operating Partnership's Matching Contribution and Supplemental
Employer Contribution is subject to the vesting and forfeiture provisions of the Retirement Savings Plan.
Supplemental Employer Contributions become 100% vested after five years of service is credited to the employee.
Matching Contributions become vested 20% after two years of service and an additional 20% becomes vested per
year thereafter. Other amounts are fully vested at all times. All amounts not vested ("forfeitures") are retained by
the Company. Total plan costs for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000, and 1999 were $0.40 million, $0.58
million, and $0.55 million, respectively.

In late 1996 the Company adopted The Savings Restoration Plan which is designed to allow eligible employees to
defer current compensation in amounts that exceed the limits that can be deferred under The Retirement Savings
Plan. The plan became effective January 1, 1997, and $0.06 million, $0.09 million, and $0.10 million was deferred
in 2001, 2000, and 1999, respectively, under the plan. Amounts deferred are charged to expense in the current
period; accordingly, all compensation expense under the above plans is being fully recognized as it is earned.

Share Incentive Plans

Prior to the initial public offering, the shareholders of the Company approved the 1993 Crown American Realty
Option Plan (the "Employee Option Plan"), and the 1993 Crown American Realty Trustees’ Option Plan (the
"Trustees’ Option Plan"). Under the Employee Option Plan, options to purchase a total of 2,200,000 common
Partnership "Units" of the Operating Partnership are currently available for grant to officers and key employees.
The Company’s Chairman and CEQ currently does not participate in any share incentive plan. Under the Employee
Option Plan, options are to be granted at not less than the market value of the common shares on the date of grant.

Under the Employee Option Agreements, prior to August 7, 2001 an option first becomes exercisable to the extent
of 20% of the total number of Units subject to the option on each of the second, third, fourth, fifth and sixth
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anniversaries of the date of the grant of the option. If employment is terminated after the option has partially or
fully vested, the option may be exercised to the extent it was exercisable at the time of termination of employment.
There are certain limitations on the timing of exercise of the option after termination of employment. All the Option
Agreements provided that options expire five years after the date they first become exercisable. In order to improve
the effectiveness of the program, the Compensation Committee of the Board of Trustees changed the vesting
schedule for any options granted after August 7, 2001 to vest and be exercisable immediately and to remain
outstanding for 5 years from date of grant.

Option transactions under the Employee Option Plan and Trustee's Option Plan are as follows:

Year Ended December 31,
2001 2000 1999
Weighted Weighted Weighted
Average Average Average
Number of Exercise Number of Exercise Number of Exercise
Units Price Units Price Units Price

Employee Option Plan;
Options outstanding, beginning
of period 1,208,595 §$ 7.00 968,095 § 8.12 1,179,870 $ 8.14
Granted 111,000 7.51 532,500 5.48 65,000 7.27

Canceled (76,000) 7.03 (292,000) 7.96  (276,000) 8.02
Exercised - - - - (775) 7.75
Options outstanding, end of period 1,243,595 § 7.04 1,208,595 $ 7.00 968,095 § 8.12

Range of option exercise prices $ 519t ) 5.19to § 6.06t0
$ 9.25 3 9.25 h 9.25
Weighted average fair value of
options granted during the year
(per option) § 0.59 $ 0.09 3 0.52
Weighted average contractual life
at end of period (in years) 53 6.1 5.1
Options exercisable at period end 501,195 368,076 393,522
Total compensation expense
recognized during the period $ 0 $ 0 3 0
Trustees' Option Plan:
Options outstanding, beginning
of period 81,000 § 7.01 62,000 $ 7.58 43500 § 8.74
Granted 20,000 7.80 20,000 5.31 20,000 5.50
Expired/Canceled (1,000) 7.50 (1,000) 7.87 (1,500) 8.02
Exercised - - - - - -
Options outstanding, end of period 100,000 $ 7.17 81,000 $ 7.01 62,000 § 7.58
Range of option exercise prices $ 531t $ 531t $ S5.50to
_ $ 9.94 $ 9.94 $ 9.94
Weighted average fair value of options
granted during the year (per option) § 0.82 $ 0.13 $ 0.34
Weighted average contractual life
at end of period (in years) 3.03 3.50 3.97
Options exercisable at period end 100,600 81,000 62,000
Total compensation expense )
recognized during the period $ 0 b 0 3 0

The Trustees' Option Plan was amended and restated effective as of December 30, 1997. As amended, options to
purchase a total of 125,000 common shares of beneficial interest of the Company are available to non-employee
Trustees. Each non-employee Trustee automatically is granted on December 31 of each year an option to purchase
5,000 common shares having an exercise price equal to 100% of the fair market value of the shares at the date of
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grant. The amended Trustees' Option Plan also provides for an automatic grant of 5,000 options to purchase
common shares with an exercise price equal to 100% of the fair market value of the shares at the date of grant upon
the appointment or election of each new non-employee Trustee to the Board. To date, all options granted to the
Trustees under the Trustees' Option Plan have been exercisable immediately upon grant. Options under the
Trustees’” Option Plan expire five years from the date of grant.

The fair value of each option grant is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model
with the following weighted-average assumptions used for grants in 2001, 2000, and 1999, respectively: dividend
yield of 11.32%, 14.67%, and 11.30%; expected volatility of 31%, 23%, and 30%, risk-free interest rates of 5.2%,
6.4%, and 5.6% for Employee options and 5.1%, 5.1%, and 6.5% for Trustee options; and expected lives of 8.5
years, 9.0 years, and 9.0 years for Employee options and 5.0 years for all Trustee options.

The Company measures compensation expense in accordance with Accounting Principles Board Opinion 25,
“Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees”. Accordingly, at the time the options are granted no compensation
cost was recognized in the accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements. Had compensation cost for the
Company’s option plans been determined based on the fair value at the grant dates for awards under those plans
consistent with the method of SFAS No. 123, the Company’s net income for the year ended December 31, 2001
would have been reduced by approximately $0.03 million or $0.001 per share. For the years ended December 31,
2000 and 1999, the Company's net income would have been increased by $0.04 million and $0.03 million,
respectively, or $0.002 and $0.001 per share, respectively.

Executive Incentive Plan

Twelve of the Company's executives were eligible for an incentive award in 2001 under the Executive Incentive
Plan, which was adopted in 1993. Employees have the option of either receiving this incentive award in cash or
deferring all or part of the award into a Rabbi Trust account maintained at a local bank. All amounts deferred are
fully funded by the Company. The assets in the Trust are shown on the Company's balance sheet in Deferred
Charges and Other Assets; the obligation to the employees is reflected on the Company's balance sheet in Accounts
Payable and Other Liabilities. The aggregate amount payable under the Executive Incentive Plan is based on the
percentage of the excess of actual performance of the Company's Funds from Operations ("FFO") and other
performance metrics over specific target levels determined at the beginning of the year. The aggregate amount
payable under the Plan is allocated to participating executives based on annual salary levels and performance during
the year. The aggregate of the bonuses paid in early 2002 related to the 2001 performance was $0.6 million.

NOTE 11 - FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND MARKET RISKS

Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 107, Fair Value of Financial Instruments, requires disclosures
about fair value for all financial instruments. At December 31, 2001, the carrying amount of the Company's $605.7
million of fixed rate debt had an estimated fair value of $619.9 million. The fixed rate debt calculation includes
$35.0 million of interest rate swap agreements which converted floating rate debt to fixed rate debt for a two year
term expiring in February 2003. The remaining $115.0 million of debt is at floating interest rates which
approximate current rates available to the Company for such debt, and accordingly the fair value of such floating
rate debt approximates the current carrying amount.

At December 31, 2000, the fair value of the Company’s $581.7 million of fixed rate debt approximated its carrying
amount. The remaining $141.1 million of debt at December 31, 2000 was at floating rates which approximated
current rates then available to the Company, and accordingly the fair value of such floating rate debt approximated
the carrying amount at that date. '

Accounts receivable and accounts payable carrying amounts approximate the fair value of accounts receivable and
accounts payable balances, respectively, at both December 31, 2001 and 2000.

NOTE 12 - COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

The Company obtains insurance for workers’ compensation, automobile, general liability, property damage, and
medical claims. However, the Company has elected to retain a portion of expected losses for property damage,
general liability and medical claims through the use of deductibles which generally range up to $0.25 million per
occurrence. Provisions for losses expected under these programs are recorded based on estimates, provided by
consultants who utilize the Company’s claims experience and actuarial assumptions, of the aggregate liability for
claims incurred and claims incurred but not reported. The total estimated liability for these losses at December 31,
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2001, 2000, and 1999 was $4.5 million, $4.3 million and $3.9 million, respectively, and is included in Accounts
Payable and Cther Liabilities.

Based on environmental studies completed on the Properties, management believes any exposure related to
environmental clean—up will not have a significant adverse impact on the Company's results of operations or its
financial condition.

The Company and its subsidiaries from time to time are subject to litigation and claims, both asserted and
unasserted, incidental to their businesses, some of which may be substantial. After consultations with legal counsel
and other advisors, management believes that the Company has recognized adequate provisions for probable and
reasonably estimable liabilities associated with these matters. While these matters may impact quarterly or annual
results of operations and cash flows when resolved in future periods, based upon information currently available,
management does not believe that the ultimate resolution of these claims and litigation will have a material adverse
effect on the financial position of the Company. The Shareholder litigation discussed below has now been resolved.

Shareholder litigation

On August 10, 1995, August 17, 1995, and September 8, 1995 complaints were filed by various individuals on
behalf of themselves and also purportedly on behaif of other similarly situated persons against the Company and
certain of its executive officers in the United States District Court for the Western District of Pennsylvania to
recover unspecified damages under the federal securities laws resulting from the decline in the market price for the
Company's common shares of beneficial interest which are listed and traded on the New York Stock Exchange. The
decline in the Company's share price followed the announcement on August 8, 1995 of various operational and
capital resource initiatives by the Company, including the reduction of the Company's quarterly dividend to increase
its levels of retained internal cash flow and the planned sale of certain assets that at the time did not fit with the
Company's growth strategy. The complaints in these three cases were consolidated by the Court and a consolidated
amended complaint was filed on July 30, 1996 (the Consolidated action).

A fourth complaint was filed the week of December 15, 1995 by an individual on behalf of himself and also
purportedly on behalf of other similarly situated persons against the Company and certain of its current and former
executive officers in the United States District Court for the Eastern District of Pennsylvania (the Warden action).
This action was subsequently transferred to the Western District of Pennsylvania. Both the Warden action and the
Consolidated action have now been dismissed with prejudice.

On January 9, 2001, the plaintiffs from the dismissed Warden action and a third individual filed a state court action
in the Court of Common Pleas of Philadelphia County (the Stein action). In the Stein action, the plaintiffs allege
state law claims against the Company which are substantially similar to the claims and allegations made in the
Warden action and which were dismissed with prejudice by the United States District Court for the Western District
of Pennsylvania and the Third Circuit Court of Appeals. After transfer of the Stein action to Cambria County, the
plaintiffs agreed to settle their remaining individual claims. The settlement will be paid entirely by the Company's
insurer.

Commitments

The Company has various purchase commitments in the normal course of business. The Company also has
commitments under signed leases with tenants to make future cash allowances and/or to construct tenant premises,
which aggregate approximately $2.6 million as of December 31, 2001.

NOTE 13 - MALL ACQUISITIONS, EXPANSIONS AND MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

In May 1998 the Company acquired, in a single transaction, two regional shopping malls: Jacksonville Mall in
Jacksonville, North Carolina, and Crossroads Mall in Beckley, West Virginia. The two malls include gross leasable
area of 414,000 and 450,000 square feet, respectively. Sears, JCPenney and Belk Stores anchor both malls. The
total purchase price was approximately $61 million, which included 10 acres of vacant land at Jacksonville Mall.
The purchase was funded from existing credit lines and also from assumption of debt related to one of the
properties. Each property is held in a limited partnership or a limited liability corporation.
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During 2000, the Company completed construction of an expansion and redevelopment of Washington Crown
Center in Washington, PA and an expansion at Valley Mall in Hagerstown, MD. The total cost of the two projects,
including capitalized construction department costs, interest, and tenant allowances, approximated $33 million and
$35 million, respectively, as of December 31, 2001. The Washington Crown Center expansion was largely financed
under a bank construction loan that was refinanced in December 2000 when this mall was added to GECC line of
credit. The Valley Mall expansion was largely financed under the line of credit with GECC as further described in
Note 5 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

In October 2001, the Company entered into a two-year contract to manage and lease Laurel Mall located in Laurel,
Maryland. Laurel Mall contains 655,000 square feet of retail space and is centrally located in the Baltimore-
Washington corridor. The contract began in December 2001 and represented the Company's first third party mall
management contract,

In connection with the execution of the abcve management contract, the Company issued warrants to the mall
owner for up to 100,000 common shares of the Company at an exercise price of $9.00 per share on the exercise
date. The holder shall become vested in the warrant shares only if the Company is retained as manager for at least
two years or if the Company resigns or is terminated. The warrant shall expire and shall no longer be exercisable
five business days after December 31, 2006. In the event of the Company's termination, the warrants must be
exercised within 30 days of such termination.

NOTE 14 - PROPERTY SALES AND DISPOSALS

In June 2000 the Company sold Greater Lewistown Plaza, a non-enclosed shopping center (which had been
purchased from Crown Associates in 1998) located in Lewistown, Pennsylvania, to a third party at a price of $5.0
million. After selling expenses and commissions and after paying off the related first mortgage, this sale generated
approximately $1.2 million in net cash proceeds for the Company. The sale did not result in a material gain.

In July 2000 the Company sold a 115,000 square foot anchor store building and related parking aggregating
approximately 15.4 acres, located at Cak Ridge Mall in Cak Ridge, Tennessee, to Wal-Mart to accommodate a
95,700 square foot expansion of this store into a Wal-Mart Supercenter. This anchor store had been occupied by
Wal-Mart under an operating lease. The sales proceeds of $4.25 million and an additional $1.3 million payment
were applied by the Company to reduce the outstanding principal balance on the existing mortgage loan on Oak
Ridge Mall. The sale resulted in a loss of $0.2 million,

In July 1998 the Company sold Middletown Mall, together with approximately 60 acres of undeveloped outparcels
and vacant land, to an unrelated third party. The aggregate purchase price was $12.2 million. The Company
received $8.5 million in cash, net of closing costs, and received a $3.5 million one-year 9.5% mortgage from the
purchases, secured by a first mortgage on all the undeveloped land and outparcels and by a second mortgage on the
mall. The note was paid in full in December 1999 at which time the deferred gain of $1.3 million was recognized.

With regard to the Company’s disposition strategy, the Company will dispose of any of the Properties, if, based
upon management's periodic review of the Company’s portfolio, the Board of Trustees determines that such action
would be in the best interests of the Company. The Company regularly evaluates property dispositions in order to
recycle capital for future investment opportunities, to reduce debt leverage, or to enhance cash flows and liquidity.
It is possible that the net sales proceeds for some properties, if sold in the future, could be lower than their current
net book value, which would result in a loss upon possible future sale.

NQTE 15 - SHAREHOLDER RIGHTS PLAN

In January 2000, the Company’s Board of Trustees adopted a Shareholder Rights Plan (the “Rights Plan”) designed
to protect shareholders and to assure that they receive fair treatment in the event of any proposed takeover of the
Company. The intent of the Rights Plan is to encourage negotiation with the Company’s Board of Trustees prior to
any takeover attempt and to give the Board increased leverage in such negotiations. The Plan was not adopted in
response to any specific offer or takeover threat.

In connection with the Rights Plan, the Company distributed one Preferred Share Purchase Right (a “Right”) for
each outstanding Common Share to common shareholders of record at the close of business on February 4, 2000.
Each Right initially entitled the holder to buy one one-hundredth of a share of a new Series A Junior Participating
Preferred Shares at an exercise price of $20.00. The Rights will become exercisable after a person or group has
acquired twenty percent or more of the Company’s outstanding Common Shares or has announced a tender offer
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that would result in the acquisition of twenty percent or more of the Company’s outstanding Common Shares. The
Company’s Board of Trustees has the option to redeem the Rights for $0.001 per Right prior to their becoming
exercisable.

Assuming the Rights have not been redeemed, after a person or group has acquired twenty percent or more of the
Company’s outstanding Common Shares, each Right (other than those owned by a holder of twenty percent or more
of the Common Shares) will entitle its holder to purchase, at the Right’s then current exercise price, that number of
the Company’s Common Shares having a market value at that time of twice the Right's exercise price. In addition,
at any time after the Rights become exercisable and prior to the acquisition by the acquiring party of fifty percent or
more of the outstanding Common Shares, the Company’s Trustees may exchange the Rights (other than those
owned by the acquiring person or its affiliates) for Common Shares of the Company at an exchange ratio of one
share per Right, or for Series A Junior Preferred Shares of the Company at an exchange ratio of one one-hundredth
of such preferred share per Right.

Initially, the Rights will not be exercisable and certificates will not be issued. The Rights will be evidenced by and
trade with the Company’s Common Shares until they become exercisable and are separated from the Common
Shares upon the occurrence of certain future events. Until that time, one Right will also be issued with respect to
each new Common Share that shall become outstanding. The Rights will expire on January 20, 2010 unless they
are earlier exchanged or redeemed.

NOTE 16 - QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA (UNAUBITED)

Summarized quarterly financial data for 2001 and 2000 is shown below (in thousands, except per share data):

First Second Third Fourth
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter

Year ended December 31, 2001:
Revenues (1) $ 46,653 $ 447358 $ 44,031 $ 49,844
Operating income before interest,

asset sales and adjustments, and

extraordinary items 15,590 14,059 15,522 19,611
Income before minority interest in

Operating Partnership 1,668 305 1,877 6,355

Net (loss) income allocated to common shares $§ (3,050 § (42399 § (2,89]) § 1,773
Net (loss) income per share:

Basic $ 012y 3% 0.16) § 011 8 0.07
Diluted $ 0.12) § 0.16) § 0.11) 8 0.07
Year ended December 31, 2000:
Revenues (1) $ 44,155 $ 42,749 $ 43,682 $ 50,762
Operating income before interest,

asset sales and adjustments, and

extraordinary items 14,640 14,532 14,999 19,077
Extraordinary (losses) - - - (243)
Income before minority interest

in Operating Partership 737 728 803 4,375
Net (loss) allocated to common shares $ (1955 $ (1,958) % (3,236) $ (567)
Net (loss) per share:
Basic $ 07y % (08) $ (12) 8§ (.02)
Diluted 3 (07) 8 (08) § (12) $ (.02)

(1) Revenues have been reclassified and do not agree to previously reported amounts due to the presentation of
Utility Redistribution Income and Expense on a gross basis adopted in the fourth quarter of 2001; as described in
Note 1 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Earnings pet share amounts for each quarter are required to be computed independently, and therefore, may not
equal the amount computed for the year.
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NOTE 17 - SUBSEQUENT EVENT

On January 3, 2002 the Company closed a $53.3 million ten-year loan secured by its Capital City Mall in
Harrisburg, PA. The loan has only limited recourse to the Company. The loan bears interest at a stated annual fixed
rate of approximately 7.6%, and is interest-only during the first two years, and then amortizes during the last eight
years based on a 28-year amortization schedule. Of the total proceeds from the new loan, $42.5 million was used to
prepay an existing 8.27% morigage lcan on Capital City Mall, which included a $4.1 million yield maintenance
prepayment penalty. This prepayment penalty, together with $0.2 million of unamortized deferred financing costs,
will be recorded as an extraordinary loss in January 2002. The remaining proceeds were used for loan closing costs
and various loan reserves aggregating $1.7 million, with the balance of $9.1 million of net proceeds available for
general corporate purposes for the Company.
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

Not applicable

PART III

Items 10 through 13.

In accordance with the provisions of General Instruction G (3) to Form 10-K, the information
required by Item 10 (Directors and Executive Officers of the Registrant), Item 11 (Executive Compensation),
Item 12 (Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management) and Item 13 (Certain Relationships
and Related Transactions) is not set forth herein (except for the information concerning "Executive Officers of the
Company"” which appears at the end of Part I hereof) because the Company's definitive Proxy Statement for its
Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be held on April 24, 2002, which includes such information, will be filed with
the Commission not later than 120 days after the end of the fiscal year covered by this annual report. Such
information is incorporated in this annual report by reference, except for the information required to be included in
the Proxy Statement by paragraphs (k) and (1) of Item 402 of Regulation S-X.

PART IV
Item 14. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules and Reports on Form 8-K

The financial statements, financial statement schedules and exhibits listed below are filed
as part of this annual report:

(a) C (D) Financial Statements Page No.
Report of Independent Public Accountants 30
Consolidated Statements of Operations of Crown American Realty Trust 31

for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999,

Consolidated Balance Sheets of Crown American Realty Trust as of 32
December 31, 2001 and 2000.

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows of Crown American Realty Trust 33
For the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000, and 1999.

Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity of Crown American 34
Realty Trust for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000, and 1999.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 35-52
2) Financial Statement Schedules

Schedule II- Valuation and Qualifying Accounts and Reserves 57
Schedule I - Consolidated Real Estate and Accumulated Depreciation 58-59

b) Reports on Form 8-K

No reports on Form 8-K were filed during the fourth quarter ended December 31, 2001.
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©
3.1
32
4.1
42
43

10.1
10.2 (a)

10.2 (b)
102 (c)
10.2 (d)
102 (e)
10.2 ()
102 (g)
10.3

10.4
10.5

10.6
10.6 (a)
10.7
10.8

10.9
10.10
10.10 (a)

10.11
10.11(a)

10.12
10.13
10.14

10.14 (2)
10.15

10.16
10.17

10.17 (a)
10.18

Exhibits

Second Amended and Restated Declaration of Trust of the Company. (c)

Bylaws of the Company. (c)

See Second Amended and Restated Declaration of Trust of the Company, (Exhibit 3.1). (c)

Articles Supplementary Classifying and Designating a Series of Preferred Shares (filed as Exhibit 4.4 to the
Company's Amendment No. 2 to Registration Statement on Form S-3, filed on June 27, 1997)

Form of Preferred Share Certificate (filed as Exhibit 4.5 to the Company’s Amendment No. 2 to Registration
Statement of Form S-3, filed on June 27, 1997

Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership of Crown American Properties, L.P. (b)

First Amendment to Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership of Crown

American Properties, L.P. (b)

Second Amendment to Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership of Crown

American Properties, L.P. (a)

Third Amendment to Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership of Crown

American Properties, L.P. (a)

Fourth Amendment to Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership of Crown American
Properties, L.P. (f)

Fifth Amendment to Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership of Crown American
Properties, L.P. (g) ‘

Sixth Amendment to Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership of Crown American
Properties, L.P. (g)

Amendment dated September 10, 1998, to the Sixth Amendment to Amended and Restated Agreement of
Limited Partnership of Crown American Properties, L.P. (g)

Amended and Restated Partnership Agreement of Crown American Financing Partnership. (b)

Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws of Crown American Financing Corporation. (b)

Real Estate Management Agreements between the Operating Partnership and the following entities:
(8)  Financing Partnership (g)
(b)  Crown American Associates (b)
(h)  Crown American WL Associates, L.P., as amended (g)
(i)  Crown American Acquisition Associates I, L.P. {f)
G) Crown American Lewistown Associates, L.P. (g)
(k)  Crown American Acquisition Associates II, L.P. (g)
1)) Crown American Crossroads LLC (g)
(m) Washington Crown Center Associates, L.P. (g)

Key Executive Bonus Incentive Plan. (c) #

Amended and Restated Key Executive Capital Incentive Plan dated July 25, 2000. (i) #

Retirement Savings Plan. (c) #

Sample Indemnification Agreement between the Company and its Trustees and officers (together with a
schedule identifying the other agreements not being filed and material differences therein). (b)

Permanent Loan Agreement between Crown American Financing, L.P. and Crown American W L Associates,
L.P. and General Electric Capital Corporation. (g)

Amended and Restated Credit Agreement with General Electric Capital Corporation

September 8, 1999. (h)

Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement with General Electric Capital Corporation dated
December 4, 2000. (i)

Amended and Restated Cash Flow Support Agreement, dated May 9, 1994 (a)

Amendment dated December 3, 1997, to the Amended and Restated Cash Flow Support Agreement

dated May 9, 1994. (f)

1993 Crown American Realty Option Plan. (c) #

Amended and Restated Crown American Realty Trustees’ Option Plan, as of December 30, 1997. (f) #
Sample Option Agreement for Employees (together with a schedule identifying the other

agreements not being filed and material differences therein). (b) #

Amended Sample Option Agreement for Employees. (j)

Sample Cption Agreement for Trustees (together with a schedule identifying the other agreements

not being filed and material differences therein). (b)#

Not used

Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of August 13, 1999 between the Company and PNC Bank
National Association (h)

Third Amended and Restated Registration Rights Agreement (j)

Exchange Agreement, dated as of August 13, 1999, among PNC Bank, National Association, the Company,
Crown American Properties, L.P., Crown Investments Trust, and Crown American Investment Company. (h)
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10.18 (2)
10.19

21

21 (a)
23

24

Second Amended and Restated Exchange Agreement (j)

Crown American Properties L.P. Savings Restoration Plan. () #
List of subsidiaries of the Company. (g)

Amended List of subsidiaries of the Company (j)

Consent of Arthur Andersen LLP (j)

Powers of Attorney (j)

Filed as an Exhibit to the Company’s Report on Form 10K for the year ended December 31, 1994.

Filed as an Exhibit to the Company’s Report on Form 10K for the period ended December 31, 1993.

Filed as an Exhibit to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-11, effective as of August 9, 1993.
Filed as an Exhibit to Amendment No. 1 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S 3, Registration
No. 33-91880, effective as of June 9, 1995.

Filed as an Exhibit to the Company’s report on Form 10K for the year ended December 31, 1996.

Filed as an Exhibit to the Company’s report on Form 10K for the year ended December 31, 1997.

Filed as an Exhibit to the Company’s report on Form 10K for the year ended December 31, 1998.

Filed as an Exhibit to the Company’s report on Form 10K for the year ended December 31, 1999.

Filed as an Exhibit to the Company’s report on Form 10K for the year ended December 31, 2000.

Filed herewith

Indicates management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the
Company has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

Date: March 8, 2002

CROWN AMERICAN REALTY TRUST

By /s/ Mark E. Pasquerilla

Mark E. Pasquerilla

Chief Executive Officer & President

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below
by the following persons on behalf of the Company in the capacities indicated and on the dates indicated.

Signature

/s/ Mark E. Pasquerilla

Mark E. Pasquerilla

[s/Terry L. Stevens
Terry L. Stevens

/s/Donato B. Zucco
Donato B. Zucco

{s/John A, Washko
John A. Washko

E3

Clifford A. Barton

-l
Donald F. Mazziotti

*
Peter J. Siris

#*

Title

Trustee, Chairman of the Board,
CEOQ and President

Trustee, Executive Vice President
And Chief Financial Officer

Trustee, Senior Vice President
And Chief Administrative Officer

Vice President and

Chief Accounting Officer
Trustee

Trustee

Trustee

Trustee

Zachary L. Solomon

*By: /s/Terry L. Stevens
Terry L. Stevens
as Attorney-in-Fact
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March 8, 2002

March 8, 2002

March 8, 2002
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CROWN AMERICAN REALTY TRUST

VYaluation and Qualifying Accounts and Reserves

Schedule 11

(Dollars in Thousands)
Additions
Beginning Charged to Ending
Description Balance Expense Other Deductions Balance
December 31, 2001:
Allowance for doubtful accounts 3 2,573 1,583 $ $ (2,004) 2,152
Restructuring costs 231 - (94) 137
December 31, 2000:
Allowance for doubtful accounts 961 2,213 (601) 2,573
Restructuring costs 664 369 (802) 231
December 31, 1999:
Allowance for doubtful accounts 1,117 1,477 (1,633) 961
Restructuring costs - 2,251 (1,587) 664
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CROWN AMERICAN REALTY TRUST
Consolidated Real Estate and Accumulated Depreciation as of December 31, 2001

(Dollars in Thousands)

Schedule It

Costs Capitalized Gross Amounts at Which Carried
Initial Cost Subseguent To Acquisition at Close of Period
Buildings Buildings Buildings
and Land and and Date
Encum- Improve- Improve- Improve- Carrying Improve- Accum. Date of Ac-
Properties brances Land ments ments ments Costs Land ments Total Deprec. Constryction quired
(A) ®) B) ©)
Bradiey Square
Cleveland, TN.  $ 13,368 (E) § 7.012 § 29385 § (281) § 3,505 § 08 6,731 § 32,890 $ 39,621 (13,698) 1891
Capital City
Harrisburg, PA 38,372 1,580 11,269 (193) 12,596 216 1,387 24,081 25,468 (14,188) 1974
Cariisle
Carlisle, PA 10,283 (D) 379 611 9 10,403 13¢ 388 11,183 11,541 (6,706) 1964
Chambersburg
Chambersburg, PA 19,664 (F) 2,363 14,063 38 13,957 271 2,401 28,291 30,692 {16,280) 1982
Crossroads
Beckley, WV 13,896 2,732 19,941 8 3,225 0 2,740 23,186 25,908 (5,120) 1998
Francis Scott Key
Frederick, MD 34,413 (F) 3784 12,470 (636) 22,854 100 3,148 35124 38,272 (19,967) 1978
Jacksonvilie
Jacksonville, NC 32,676 (E) 11,062 26,835 1430 2,418 0 12,492 29,253 41,745 (6,605) 1998
Logan Valley
Altcona, PA 56,043 (F) 2,138 954 2,086 79,874 7.411 4,224 88,239 92,463 (28,321} 1965, 1995-96
Lycoming
Williamsport, PA 34,413 (F) 2,110 14,204 (33) 19,450 638 2,077 34,292 36,369 (19,073) 1978, 1980
Martinsburg
Martinsburg WV 17,206 (F) 8,375 37,547 (653) 3,930 22 7.722 41,499 49,221 (16,883) 1991
Mt. Berry Square
Rome, GA 18,308 (E) 6,260 37,434 (209) 6,438 0 6,051 43,872 49,923 (17,830} 1991
New River Valley
Christiansburg, VA 16,7156 (F) 3,923 27,094 38 8,292 0 3,961 35,386 33,347 (12,810} 1988
Nittany
State College, PA 28497 (F) 6,683 6,204 (891) 33,556 5834 5,792 45,594 51,386 (20,794) 1968, 1970,
1991
North Hanover
Hanover, PA 19,664 (F) 1,272 1,325 591 16,985 194 1,863 18,504 20,367 (12,417) 1967
Oak Ridge
Qak Ridge, TN 15,523 9,393 31,323 (1,980) 3,666 1,374 7.413 36,360 43,773 (18,993) 1989
Pasquerilla Plaza
Johnstown, PA 3,369 3,289 23,010 4 1,263 0 3,293 24,273 27,568 (9,722) 1989
Patrick Henry
Newport News, VA 48,652 (F) 3,953 22,432 (603) 20,078 541 3,350 43,051 46,401 (16,356) 1987
Phillipsburg
Phillipsburg, NJ 29,496 (F) 11,169 50,368 36 8,654 Q 11,205 59,022 70,227 (24,614} 1989
Schuylkill
Frackville, PA 33,553 10,332 24,843 97 12,320 5 10,429 37,168 47,597 (21,807) 1980
Shenango Vailey
Sharon, PA 13,368 (E) 0 6,403 22 9612 151 22 16,168 16,188 (10,548) 1967, 1995
South
Allentown, PA - 14,748 (F) 3,465 2,331 23 15,541 0 3.488 17,872 21,380 (7.760) 1980
Uniontown
Uniontown, PA 23,597 (F) [¢] 6,635 1,384 34,239 2,540 1,384 43,414 44,798 (24,526) 1969, 1984
1989
Valley Malil
Hagerstown, MD 47,529 (€} 12,036 19,945 3,144 32,855 40 15,180 52,840 68,020 (9,086) 2000 1997
Viewmont
Scranton, PA 29,496 (F) 1,696 4,602 6,836 41,820 7,701 8,532 54,123 62,655 (22,248) 1968, 1994-95
Washington Crown Ctr .
Washington, PA 22,279 (E) 2,977 3,915 4,265 45716 385 7.242 49,9868 57,228 (17,008} 1969, 2000
West Manchester )
York, PA 26,547 (F) 7,694 24,122 931 24,193 777 8,625 49,092 57,717 (20,190) 1981, 1995
Westgate Anchor Pad
Bethlehem, PA [¢] 0 3,219 1" 8 ¢} 1 3227 3,238 (1,274) 1988
Wyoming Valley
Wilkes-Barre, PA 56,043 (F) 6,825 52,057 (217} 5,754 12 6,608 57,823 64,431 {24,309) 1972 1995
Total $_ 720729 $ 132502 $ 514241 $_ 15257 $_ 493202 $_ 28318 $_ 147,759 $_ 1,035761 $_ 1,183,520 (438,929)

See following page for note references {A) to (F).
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Schedule lIl (continued)

CROWN AMERICAN REALTY TRUST
Consolidated Real Estate and Accumulated Depreciation as of December 31, 2001
(Dollars in Thousands)

Depreciation and amortization of the Company's investment in buildings and improvements reflected in the statements of
operations are calculated over the estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:

Base Building 45 years
Building Components 10 - 20 years
Tenant Improvements Terms of Leases or useful lives, whichever is shorter

The aggregate cost for Federal income tax purposes was approximately $1,146 million at December 31, 2001.

The changes in total real estate assets and accumulated depreciation and amortization for the years ended
December 31, 1997, 1998, 1999, 2000, and 2001 are as follows:

Total Real Estale Asseis

Years ended December 31,

2001 2000 1999 1998 1997
Balance, beginning of period $ 1,170,127 $ 1,140,383 $ 1,091,880 $ 984729 $ 919,469
Additions and improvements 21,022 44 283 50,904 59,988 34,230
Acquisitions - - I 65,602 31,981
Cost of real estate sold (192) (12,795) (482) (16,270) (341)
Other writeoffs (7,437) (1,744) (1,919) (2,169) (610)
Balance, end of period $ 1183520 $ 1,170,127 $ 1,i40383 S 1,091,880 $ 984,729
Accumulated Depreciation & Amortization
Years ended December 31,
2001 2000 1999 1998 1997
Balance, beginning of period $ 401,267 % 362,115 $ 323,425 $ 292375 $ 259,099
Depreciation and amortization 45,099 43,954 40,609 38,979 33,886
Acquisitions - - - - -
Cost of real estate sold - (3,058) - (5,760) -
Other writeoffs (7,437) (1,744) (1,919) (2,169) (610)
Balance, end of period $ 438929 % 401,267 % 362,115 % 323425 $ 292,375

(A) Initial cost for constructed malls is cost at end of first complete fiscal year subsequent to opening and includes carrying
costs on initial construction.

(B) Improvements are reported net of dispositions.

(C) Carrying costs consist of capitalized construction period interest and taxes on expansions and major renovations
subsequent to initial construction of the mall.

(D) Includes $895 secured only by a bank letter of credit.

(E) Shenango Valley, Mt. Berry Square, Bradley Square, Jacksonville, Washington Crown Center, and Valley Mall are
mortgaged to secure the $175.0 million GECC working capital line of credit. These six properties are cross-defaulted
and cross-collateralized. Amounts shown for each property represent the allocated amount of the total loan outstanding
based on their relative net operating income at December 31, 2001, as defined in the loan agreement. These amounts
do not represent the loan release amounts should the properties be sold.

(F) Thirteen malls in the Financing Partnership and Logan Valley and Wyoming Valley Malls are all cross-defaulted and
cross-collateralized under the $465 million mortgage loan with GECC. Amounts shown for each property represent
the allocated amount of the total loan outstanding.
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